Public Document Pack

To:

Chair and Members of the Planning
Committee

Date:

9 June 2021

Direct Dial:

01824 712589

e-mail:

democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held at 9.30
AM on WEDNESDAY, 16 JUNE 2021 in VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE.
Yours sincerely

G Williams
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services

AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Pages 7 - 8)
Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business
identified to be considered at this meeting.

3

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR
To appoint a Chair of the Planning Committee for the 2021/2022 municipal
year.

4

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR
To appoint a Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee for the 2021/2022
municipal year.

5

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local
Government Act, 1972.

6

MINUTES (Pages 9 - 16)

To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting
held on the 12 May 2021 (copy attached).

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 7 - 10) 7

APPLICATION NO. 43/2020/0521/PF - LAND ADJACENT TO
ALEXANDRA DRIVE, PRESTATYN (Pages 17 - 62)
To consider an application for erection of 102 affordable dwellings,
associated roads, open space, landscaping and infrastructure (re-submission
of Planning application 44/2019/0629) at land adjacent to Alexandra Drive,
Prestatyn (copy attached).

8

APPLICATION NO. 43/2021/0063/PF - 23 GROSVENOR ROAD,
PRESTATYN (Pages 63 - 88)
To consider an application for erection of a 3 metre high timber panel and
post fence to screen caravan and erection of decking and ramp to serve
caravan at 23 Grosvenor Road, Prestatyn (copy attached).

9

APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0844/PF - SANDY LODGE, 83 DYSERTH
ROAD, RHYL (Pages 89 - 114)
To consider an application for alteration and adaption of existing nursing
home to include extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two
fire escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy at Sandy Lodge, 83
Dyserth Road, Rhyl (copy attached).

10

APPLICATION NO. 47/2021/0257/PF - 2 BRYN IBOD WAEN ST. ASAPH
(Pages 115 - 140)
To consider an application for erection of rear two storey extension with
adjoining single storey extension at 2 Bryn Ibod Waen St. Asaph (copy
attached).

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
Councillor Joe Welch (Chair)
Joan Butterfield
Ellie Chard
Ann Davies
Peter Evans
Alan Hughes
Brian Jones

Bob Murray
Merfyn Parry
Paul Penlington
Pete Prendergast
Peter Scott
Tony Thomas

Tina Jones
Gwyneth Kensler
Christine Marston
Melvyn Mile

COPIES TO:
All Councillors for information
Press and Libraries
Town and Community Councils

Julian Thompson-Hill
Emrys Wynne
Mark Young

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
WELCOME TO DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HOW THE MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED
– Virtual arrangements June 2020
Unless the Chair of the Committee advises to the contrary, the order in which the main items will be taken will follow the
agenda set out at the front of this report.

General introduction
The Chair will open the meeting at 9.30am and welcome everyone to the Planning Committee.
The Chair will ask if there are any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.
The Chair will invite Officers to make a brief introduction to matters relevant to the meeting.
Officers will outline as appropriate items where we have received requests for deferral, withdrawals, special reports, and
any Part 2 items where the press and public may be excluded. Reference will be made to additional information prior to
the start of the meeting, including the late representations/amendments summary sheets (‘Blue Sheets’) and any
supplementary or revised plans relating to items for consideration.
The Blue Sheets' contain important information, including a summary of material received in relation to items on the
agenda between the completion of the main reports and the day before the meeting. The sheets also set out the
proposed running order on planning applications.
In relation to the running order of items, any Members seeking to bring forward consideration of an item will be expected
to make such a request immediately following the Officer's introduction. Any such request must be made as a formal
proposal and will be subject to a vote.
The Planning Committee currently consists of 19 elected Members. In accordance with protocol, 10 Members must be
present at the start of a debate on an item to constitute quorum and to allow a vote to be taken.
County Council Members who are not elected onto Planning Committee may attend the meeting and speak on an item,
but are not able to make a proposal to grant or refuse, or to vote.

CONSIDERING PLANNING APPLICATIONS
The sequence to be followed
The Chair will announce the item which is to be dealt with next. In relation to planning applications, reference will be
made to the application number, the location and basis of the proposal, the relevant local Members for the area, and the
Officer recommendation.
If any Member is minded to propose deferral of an item, including to allow for the site to be visited by a Site Inspection
Panel, the request should be made, with the planning reason for deferral, before any public speaking or debate on that
item.
Where relevant, the Chair will offer the opportunity for Members to read any late information on an item on the 'Blue
Sheets' before proceeding.
Prior to any debate, the Chair may invite Officers to provide a brief introduction to an item where this is considered to be
worthwhile in view of the nature of the application. In addition the Officers may read out any prepared speech by an

Page 5

interested party for or against the application. The speech provided against any application will be read out first.

The Chair will announce that the item is open for debate and offer Members opportunity to speak and to make
propositions on the item.
If any application has been subject to a Site Inspection Panel prior to the Committee, the Chair will normally invite those
Members who attended, including the Local Member, to speak first.
On all other applications, the Chair will permit the Local Member(s) to speak first, should he/she/they wish to do so.
Members are normally limited to a maximum of five minutes speaking time, and the Chair will conduct the debate in
accordance with Standing Orders.
Once a Member has spoken, he/she should not speak again unless seeking clarification of points arising in debate,
and then only once all other Members have had the opportunity to speak, and with the agreement of the Chair.
At the conclusion of Members debate, the Chair will ask Officers to respond as appropriate to questions and points
raised, including advice on any resolution in conflict with the recommendation.
Prior to proceeding to the vote, the Chair will invite or seek clarification of propositions and seconders for propositions for
or against the Officer recommendation, or any other resolutions including amendments to propositions. Where a
proposition is made contrary to the Officer recommendation, the Chair will seek clarification of the planning reason(s) for
that proposition, in order that this may be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. The Chair may request comment from
the Legal and Planning Officer on the validity of the stated reason(s).
The Chair will announce when the debate is closed, and that voting is to follow.

The voting procedure
Before requesting Members to vote, the Chair will announce what resolutions have been made, and how the vote is to
proceed. If necessary, further clarification may be sought of amendments, new or additional conditions and reasons for
refusal, so there is no ambiguity over what the Committee is voting for or against.
The voting will proceed with the Chair going around all the Planning Committee members eligible to vote to ask for their
verbal “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” vote. The votes will be marked down and the Chair will then announce whether that
application has been approved or refused.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
Code of Conduct for Members

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS

I, (name)

a *member/co-opted member of

Denbighshire County Council

(*please delete as appropriate)

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part
III of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the
following:(*please delete as appropriate)

Date of Disclosure:

Committee (please specify):

Agenda Item No.

Subject Matter:

Nature of Interest:
(See the note below)*

Signed

Date
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for planning permission
made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which has made an application for financial
assistance’.

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held in via VIDEO CONFERENCE on
Wednesday, 12 May 2021 at 9.30 am.
PRESENT
Councillors Ellie Chard, Ann Davies, Peter Evans, Alan James (Vice-Chair), Brian Jones,
Tina Jones, Gwyneth Kensler, Christine Marston, Melvyn Mile, Bob Murray, Merfyn Parry,
Pete Prendergast, Peter Scott, Tony Thomas, Julian Thompson-Hill, Joe Welch (Chair),
Emrys Wynne and Mark Young
Observers – Councillors Meirick Lloyd Davies and Cheryl Williams,
ALSO PRESENT
Team Leader – Places Team (TD); Planning Officers (PG, LD and TH), Committee
Administrators (RTJ, KJ, SJ)

1

APOLOGIES
No apologies were received.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Melvyn Mile declared a personal interest in agenda item 5, as there was
a work connection with regards to the applicant.
Councillor Pete Prendergast declared a personal and prejudicial interest in agenda
item 9, as he was the applicant.
Councillor Emrys Wynne, queried with the committee how members would obtain
the declarations of interest forms whilst the meetings were held through hybrid
methods, the chair informed the committee that they could be completed digitally,
and that the democratic team would circulate the form to those who needed them.

3

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
No urgent matters had been raised.

4

MINUTES
The minutes of the Planning Committee held on 14 April 2021 were submitted.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14 April 2021 be approved as
a correct record.

Page 9

5

APPLICATION NO. 03/2018/1141 - TYN Y WERN, MAESMAWR ROAD,
LLANGOLLEN
An application was submitted for the demolition of the existing hotel and erection of
16 dwellings at Tyn Y Wern Hotel, Maesmawr Road, Llangollen LL20 7PH.
Public Speaker
Richard Corbett (For) – thanked the committee for being allowed to speak, and
thanked officers for the in-depth report. The only consideration for the development
was the location which was partly outside of the Local Development Plan (LDP) for
Llangollen. The Tyn Y Wern site, was a rundown hotel, which had been on sale for
10 years, and has not sold. The lack of interest made it apparent that a hotel and
restaurant development was being unfeasible.
The site, was suitable for a housing development which would meet the needs of
the people of Llangollen, and would supply a boost for Denbighshire and
Llangollen. The split with the land was that 52% of the land was outside of the LDP
development boundary while the remaining 48% was within the LDP development
boundary. The applicant emailed the committee with emailed the committee
highlighting national planning policy 11, which would support the development on
previously developed land (brown field land).
Mr Corbett stated that Denbighshire’s LDP did not align with the national planning
policy, as such it was a material planning consideration, which outweighed the
reason for refusal. The committee were informed of numerous planning applications
which were granted across North Wales to address the housing needs. The Welsh
Government were clear that the delivery of housing was required. Whilst the
proposal was against the local LDP, the need for housing on brown field sites were
strongly in favour of granting the application.
General Debate –
Councillor Melvyn Mile (local member) informed the committee of two other sites
within Llangollen which had not been developed and had since fallen into disrepair
and were affecting the visual appeal of the town. The reason for raising the other
properties was to highlight concern that if work was not to be carried out on the Tyn
y Wern hotel, that the site would become another eyesore in the town.
The committee queried whether the development would be carried out on a brown
field site, and how much weight should be given whilst debating the application in
respect of the housing need in Denbighshire.
Officers responded that the site was a brown field site and the Welsh Government
(WG) does emphasise using brown field sites, but this does not mean the site
should be developed outside of the LDP development boundary. The housing need
was for the 5 year supply, and the Corporate Plan was to build 1000 dwellings
between 2017 and 2021, this target had been met. The planning officers
recommended following the LDP which had been approved by the Council.

Page 10

PROPOSAL Councillor Melvyn Mile proposed the application be granted contrary
to officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Ellie Chard.
The reasoning for the proposal was because of the guidance from WG from
February 2021, which was for the development for brown sites with regard to
housing shortage, also for the enhancement of the visual amenities of the town.
The site has already began to look dilapidated and if the site was not developed
this would continue. Looking at the next LDP development, the site plan in page 46
was not accurate, and the site was no longer in the open countryside.
Vote –
Grant – 2
Abstain – 1
Refuse – 15
RESOLVED that permission be REFUSED in accordance with officer
recommendations as detailed within the report and supplementary papers.
6

APPLICATION NO. 42/2020/0923 - FORMER QUARRY OFF HIGH STREET,
DYSERTH
An application was submitted for the erection of a multi-storey dwelling with
detached garage with store over, erection of a single storey lodge dwelling and
associated works at Land at the Former Quarry, off High Street, Dyserth, Rhyl.
Public Speaker –
Eleanor Carpenter (Agent) (For) Thanked the committee for the opportunity to speak, the application was to erect a
spacious family dwelling, and a second smaller dwelling for close family members,
in a small portion of the former tarmac quarry site at Dyserth. The applicant was
interested in in protecting the ecology for the rest of the quarry and where possible
improving it. The site was within the settlement boundaries of Dyserth, due to the
scale and the location considerable consideration has been put into the design and
the materials planned for the development. A modern development was intended as
a smaller design would be dwarfed by the location of the development. The site
would also be well screened and would not have a detrimental effect on the Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The development would be sustainable.
The flooding at the site were historic and not recent. The application was in
accordance with all planning policies. The applicant were willing to work alongside
any additional conditions which were added by the committee, alongside any
Section 106 agreements.
General Discussions Councillor David Williams (Local Member) – had no objections to the application,
however he could not see how the water could be dealt with as the vast majority of
the site was rock and a soak away would not be effective.

Page 11

Officers advised that they understand the concerns about flooding, however the
drainage would need to be agreed externally to the planning authority, and the
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) would need to be agreed by the SuDS
Approving Body (SAB) which would deal with those issues.
Councillor Merfyn Parry advised of hisconcerns in respect of SuDS and SAB as it
was something the planning committee had no control over. He queried whether the
matter be taken higher to ensure that the planning authority had more of an impact
on matters, and that they were dealt with prior to coming to planning committee.
Would like to add a condition that the local member be included with discussions
with SuDS and SAB.
Officers responded that planning could not apply the condition to SAB, however
could request discussions with the local members. The matter could be duplicating
legislation which could be challenged.
PROPOSAL - Councillor Merfyn Parry proposed the application be granted with an
additional condition that SAB and groundwork flooding be discussed with the local
member prior to any development
The committee agreed with the comments raised by Councillor Merfyn Parry.
However requested that a historical record by carried out of the site as was
requested by Councillor Emrys Wynne.
Officers thought a condition for photographic historical records could be included in
the decision but a condition with regards to the SAB was not legally binding.
However the report could be submitted to the local member prior to development
being commenced on the site.
Vote –
Grant – 18
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 0
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with officer
recommendations and the additional condition set out in the proposal.
7

APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0844 - SANDY LODGE, 83 DYSERTH ROAD, RHYL
An application was submitted for the alteration and adaptation of an existing nursing
home to include extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy at Sandy Lodge, 83 Dyserth Road,
Rhyl, LL18 4DT.
Councillor Brian Jones, proposed the application be deferred until a site visit had
been carried out at the site, as it would be beneficial to the committee prior to the
application being debated. Councillor Brian Jones also highlighted that he was not
pleased that the local members had received no correspondence from officers
since the application was submitted at the last meeting.

Page 12

Proposal – Councillor Brian Jones proposed the application be deferred, seconded
by Councillor Ann Davies.
Vote –
Grant – 13
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 4
RESOLVED that the application for the alteration and adaptation of existing nursing
home at Sandy Lodge, Rhyl be deferred to a future meeting for the reasons set out
by Councillor Brian Jones above.
8

APPLICATION NO. 43/2021/0275 - 36 NANT HALL ROAD, PRESTATYN
An application was submitted for the erection of a two storey pitched roof extension
to the side of a dwelling at 36 Nant Hall Road, Prestatyn.
Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill (local member) had no objections to the application
and was happy for propose the application for approval.
Proposal – Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill proposed the application be granted in
accordance with officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Gwyneth
Kensler.
Vote –
Grant – 17
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 0
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with officer
recommendations.

9

APPLICATION NO. 45/2021/0195 - 53 BRYN CWNIN ROAD, RHYL
An application was submitted for the erection of an extension to the rear of a
dwelling at 53 Bryn, Cwnin Road, Rhyl.
Councillor Ellie Chard (local member) had no objection to the officer
recommendation and was happy to endorse the application.
Proposal – Councillor Ellie Chard proposed the application be granted in
accordance with officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Melvyn Mile.
Vote –
Grant – 17
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 0
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with officer
recommendations.

Page 13

10

GENERAL MATTERS REPORT - OBJECTIONS TO TREE PRESERVATION
ORDER NO. 4 (2020) MADE BY DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
The report was to inform members of the committee that the council had received
several objections to provisional Tree Preservation Order No.4 (2020) Land at 118
Bro Deg, Ruthin, made on 9th December 2020 and to recommend confirmation of
the Tree Preservation Order. The Tree Preservation Order (TPO) afforded
protection to a single mature oak (T1) in the rear garden of the property.
The chair informed the committee of the recommendation which was that the Tree
Preservation Order No. 4 (2020) Land at 118 Bro Deg, Ruthin be confirmed without
modification to afford the mature oak continued protection.
The officer highlighted that the tree had an emergency TPO for 6 months and this
would expire in June. The tree consultant has realised that there were some
physical defects with the tree, if they had not been treated it could have been
hazardous, those concerns had been addressed, and the tree should be able to
revitalise.
Councillor Emrys Wynne (local member) praised how the issues were resolved with
regards to the tree, however he stated that the tree was looking very different to the
images in the report. However, he had no objections to extending the TPO. Whilst
having no objections to extending the TPO Councillor Wynne queried whether there
was a likelihood of the roots of the tree causing any harm to nearby drainage.
Officers responded that the report was with regards to the TPO, however if the
issue with drainage were to occur they would be dealt with accordingly.
Proposal – Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill proposed the Tree Preservation Order
No. 4 (2020) Land at 118 Bro Deg, Ruthin be confirmed without modification to
afford the mature oak continued protection, seconded by Councillor Alan James.
Vote –
Grant – 16
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 0
RESOLVED that TPO be confirmed without modification to afford the mature oak
continued protection.

11

PLANNING FOR DARK NIGHT SKIES' - SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING
GUIDANCE FOR LIGHTING IN THE CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY
AONB - CONSULTATION DRAFT
This report related to draft Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) for lighting in
the Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
which, if adopted, would be used in the determination of planning applications.
The chair read out the recommendations for the report which were that the Planning
Committee agree the draft SPG ‘Planning for Dark Night Skies -Supplementary

Page 14

Planning Guidance for lighting in the Clwydian Range and Dee Valley AONB’ for
public consultation.
Tony Thomas as the chair of the AONB committee fully endorse the report, and
proposal for the report, Councillor Mark Young fully supported and happy to second
the recommendation.
All members in attendance were happy for the report to go out for public
consultation.
RESOLVED that the planning Committee agree the draft SPG ‘Planning for Dark
Night Skies - Supplementary Planning Guidance for lighting in the Clwydian Range
and Dee Valley AONB’ and that the report go out to public consultation.
The meeting concluded at 11:05am

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
WARD :

Prestatyn South West

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Gareth Lloyd Davies
Cllr Bob Murray (C)

APPLICATION NO:

43/2020/0521/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of 102 affordable dwellings, associated roads, open
space, landscaping and infrastructure (re-submission of planning
application 44/2019/0629)
Land Adjacent to Alexandra Drive Prestatyn

LOCATION:

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

43/2020/0521
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1417
Canol / Centre: 305220, 381718
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 13:55:36
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 19

Page 20

100 m
200 ft

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408.
Location plan
Scale: 1:5000
Printed on: 25/1/2021 at 17:31 PM

Page 21

© Denbighshire County Council

Page 22

Page 23

Page 24

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Page 28

Denise Shaw
WARD :

Prestatyn South West

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Gareth Lloyd Davies
Cllr Bob Murray (c)

APPLICATION NO:

43/2020/0521/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of 102 affordable dwellings, associated roads, open
space, landscaping and infrastructure (re-submission of planning
application 44/2019/0629)

LOCATION:

Land Adjacent to Alexandra Drive Prestatyn

APPLICANT:

Mr Matt Christie, Macbryde Homes

CONSTRAINTS:

PROW

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - Yes
Press Notice - Yes
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Significant Departure from Development plan
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
PRESTATYN TOWN COUNCIL
Original consultation response:
OBSERVATIONS
Cllr BM None of the previous objections to the original application are addressed. Serious
concerns about traffic access and egress. The area is designated pasture land and also an
area which has considerable environmental interest with species such as badgers, hedgehogs,
owls. The area is also considerably prone to flooding.
Cllr GS Wishes to record a formal objection to the application. The re-submission does not
address previous concerns recorded. The land is designated agricultural land. North Wales
Police have expressed concerns regarding community safety due to the alleyways included in
the plans. The environmental impact is considerable with many wildlife species and flora and
fauna present in the area. Local services, particularly schools have no capacity for more pupils
in addition to other services such as doctors, hospitals etc. The Fire Service have also
expressed concern that road access for emergency vehicles is questionable. Very many of the
residents in the area object to this development
Cllr RF Concerns regarding heavy traffic requiring access to the site will render the road
dangerous. North Wales Police have stated the development is not conducive to family life. The
development will be detrimental on environmental grounds with a considerable impact on
wildlife in the area.
Cllr GD Has met with many residents in the area who object strongly to the development and
cited some incidences where residents had not received letters from DCC Planning informing
them of the development. All previously expressed concerns remain relevant and the
development constitutes and over intensification of the area which current infrastructure and
services cannot support
Cllr PP The development will impact on the neighbouring ward in terms of flooding
RESOLVED
That Prestatyn Town Council formally object to this development
Re-consultation response:

Page 29

OBJECTIONS
Poor highway access and egress; loss of designated agricultural pasture land; considerable
environmental and species habitat including badgers, hedgehogs and owls; site prone to
flooding and protects property further downstream.
North Wales Police have expressed concern about crime and alleyways.
North Wales Fire Service expressed concern about access for emergency vehicles.
Lack of infrastructure for such a large development e.g. school spaces, general practitioners,
hospital, utility services including drainage.
Over-intensification of a small quiet residential area. Town already meets quota for future
developments. Contrary to Local Development Plan.
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES
Original consultation response:
NRW raise no objection subject to the Ecology Report being listed as an approved document.
Topic specific comments are set out below:
Flood Risk – Site lies entirely within Zone A flood risk zone. The Flood Consequences
Assessment assesses the risk of flooding from all sources. NRW is satisfied that the site is not
at risk of sea or fluvial flooding and would not result in an increase of flood risk elsewhere, and
therefore raise no objection on flood risk grounds.
NRW note the access / egress route leading up to the site is at risk of flooding and
recommends the views of the North Wales Councils Regional Emergency Planning Service
(NWCREPS) are sought.
Surface water drainage – surface water drainage would be subject to separate approval from
the SuDs Approval Body (SAB) and therefore NRW do not provide advice in this regard.
Protected Species – NRW consider the ecology report is satisfactory and that the proposal is
not likely to be detrimental to the favourable conservation status of protected species, subject
to the Ecology Report being listed as an approved document.
Re-consultation response:
Re-iterated previous consultation comments.
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER –
Original consultation response:
No objection, subject to conditions being imposed with respect to foul water drainage
Dwr Cymru note it is proposed to dispose of foul flows via the public sewerage system and
discharge surface water run-off into a sustainable drainage system and have advised that no
problems are envisaged with the Waste Water Treatment Works for the treatment of domestic
discharges from this site and that a water supply can be made available to service the
proposal.
Re-consultation response:
Re-iterated previous consultation comments.
CLWYD POWYS ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST (CPAT)
Original consultation response:
Concerns raised with the loss of important hedgerow. CPAT considered that onsite hedgerow
should be retained.
Re-consultation response:
CPAT note the retention now of the northern historic hedgerow in accordance with the
Hedgerow Regulations 1997 criteria and this is welcomed.
The updated Heritage Impact Assessment indicates that the impact on the setting of the Grade
II listed Plas Newydd Farm will be no more than Slight, which is not a significant impact and
CPAT would therefore have no objection.

Page 30

NORTH WALES AND FIRE AND RESCUE –
Original consultation response:
Advises access roads should be wide enough for fire rescue vehicles to manoeuvre and fire
hydrants should be provided within the site.
Re-consultation response:
Re-iterated previous consultation comments.
NORTH WALES POLICE –
Original consultation response:
Concerns raised regarding the inclusion of rear alleys / shared access behind dwellings on
security grounds as such paths increase risk of unauthorised intrusion. Recommends that the
developer installs robust framed gates where the paths open onto public space. These gates
must be self-closing and key-operated from the public side.
Recommends secure cycle storage is included within the development.
Re-consultation response:
It is noted that the revised layout has greatly reduced the number of rear alleyways, but would
ask that the developer ensures that where such rear alleyways remain, that access is restricted
by a robust gate which is key operated from the public side (e.g. between plots 55 & 56).
Reiterates that secure cycle storage should be included within the development.
REGIONAL EMERGENCY PLANNING SERVICE
No objections or site specific comments made, however generic observations (applicable to all
sites) were provided regarding access and evacuation at sites considered to be at risk of flood.
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
Traffic, Parking and Road Safety
- Highways Officer
Highways Officers have given consideration to the following elements of the proposals;
• Capacity of existing network
• Accessibility
• Site access
• Site Layout
The following information has been reviewed as part of the assessment of the proposals;
• Layout Plans
• Transport Assessment
• Planning Statement
Having regard to the submitted details it is considered that sufficient information has been
submitted.
Capacity of existing network:
Having regard to the scale of the proposed development, the existing highways network and
the submitted highways details, it is considered that the proposals would not have an
unacceptable impact on the local highways network in terms of capacity. However, due to the
increase in traffic along the existing road network and in particular Ffordd Penrhwylfa, the
Highway Authority considers additional traffic calming along Ffordd Penrhwylfa is necessary to
ensure the proposal doesn't result in any adverse harm to highway safety.
Accessibility:
Having regard to the location of the existing site and existing arrangements it is considered
that the proposals are acceptable in terms of accessibility and policy requirements.
Site Access:

Page 31

Vehicular access to the development is proposed via an extension to Ffordd Cae Felin.
Pedestrian and cycle access into the site will be provided at the same location as the vehicular
access. The existing PROW will be incorporated into the extension to Ffordd Cae Felin.
Considering the access point is an extension to an existing highway, the visibility standards set
out in Annex B TAN 18 have not been taken into account.
Site Layout (including roads, pavements, manoeuvring, lighting etc.)
The proposed site has a main internal estate road measuring 5.5m in width with access to
more minor residential cul-de-sacs reducing to 4.8m. 2.0m footways/service margins will be
provided throughout the site. In order to demonstrate that the site can be serviced sufficiently,
swept path analysis of a large 4-axle refuse vehicle has been undertaken at the turning heads
within the site. The swept path analysis demonstrates that a vehicle of this size can turn within
the site at appropriate points, and exit the site in a forward gear.
Having regard to the details provided and relevant policy and guidance, it is considered that
the on-site highways arrangements are acceptable.
Conclusion:
Having regard to the detailed assessments, taking into consideration the capacity of the
existing highway network, accessibility, site access and site layout, Highways Officers would
see no reason to object to the proposed development subject to a financial contribution to
cover cost of necessary traffic calming along Ffordd Penrhwylfa being secured and to the
conditions being imposed to secure a Construction Method Statement and full details of traffic
calming measures to be installed along Ffordd Penrhwylfa.
Conservation Officer
No objection. The layout provides a substantial green buffer between the development and the
boundary to the listed farmhouse and agricultural land, which allows for the setting of the listed
building to be preserved. This combined with the proposed landscaping and planting of trees
and the increase in distance from the proposed houses to the boundary make the application
acceptable from a conservation point of view.
County Ecologist
Original consultation response:
Concerns raised with the loss of important hedgerow within the site. Ecology Officer considers
that onsite hedgerows should be retained, and sufficient ecological mitigation and
enhancement measures should be incorporated into the scheme
Re-consultation response:
Following the submission of amended plans and additional landscape and Ecology
Management Plan, the Ecology Officer has no objections to the proposal, subject to conditions
being imposed to ensure that there are no negative impacts on protected species or the nature
conservation value of the site. Conditions proposed as to secure compliance with the
Landscape and Ecology Management Plan and an Ecological Compliance Audit.
Drainage Engineer:
No formal response received. Previously advised the proposed surface water drainage will
require separate SAB approval. The developer has yet to submit a SAB application although it
should be noted there is no legal requirement to do so before a planning application is
determined. The SAB approval must be gained prior to development commencing, but this is a
separate regulatory regime to development management/planning.
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer:
Original consultation response:
Supports the principle of the proposal as a departure from the LDP.
Principle:
The site lies outside of the established development boundary for Prestatyn and as such the
principle of development on this land is contrary to local and national planning policy. Planning
Policy Wales states that “planning applications must be determined in accordance with the
adopted plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.”

Page 32

The scheme is however for 100% affordable housing. The need for affordable housing is well
established throughout Denbighshire. Prestatyn has the greatest need for affordable housing
as identified in the published Local Housing Market Assessment (2019).
National policy emphasises the need to increase the supply of affordable housing.
It must be considered whether the opportunity to deliver a significant amount of affordable
housing outweighs the adopted Local Development Plan. In this instance given the scale of the
need for affordable housing in the Prestatyn area it is considered that the proposal may be
acceptable in principle subject to the homes being secured as affordable via a section 106
agreement and conditions.
Best and most versatile agricultural land:
The site is identified as being Grade 3a agricultural land which is classified as Best and Most
Versatile (BMV).
The supporting information provides an assessment of other potential sites of lower or equal
grade in support of the application and this assessment is considered to adequately address
the issue of BMV land.
Density and Housing Mix:
Density is above 35 dwelling per hectare recommended in LDP a.
The proposed housing mix is also considered acceptable, the housing market assessment
highlights the greatest need for 2 and 3 bedroom homes. The proposed housing mix comprises
86% 2 and 3 bedroom homes and is considered acceptable.
Layout:
Notes basic requirement for the layout to meet minimum separation distances set out in
relevant policy and guidance, and that the application cannot be supported until layout is
amended to ensure minimum separation distances between proposed dwellings and those
existing dwellings along Alexandra Drive are achieved.
Open Space:
LDP Policy BSC 11 requires new developments to provide open space in accordance with the
County’s minimum standard of 2.4 hectares per 1000 population.
The submitted plans indicate an area of open space being provided on-site. Provision is
considered acceptable.
Education Contributions:
At present there is sufficient capacity at the local primary and secondary schools in the area
therefore at present would be unlikely to generate the need for a planning contribution due to
current surplus places. However please be advised that school roll information changes
frequently.
Welsh Language:
It was recorded in the 2011 Census that 15.1% of the residents of Prestatyn were Welsh
speaking; this was one of the lowest percentages in Denbighshire. The 100% affordable
housing will be allocated to local households based on the local letting policy of the
Registered Social Landlord which should not affect the linguistic and cultural make-up of the
area.
It is not considered that this development proposal will have a negative impact on the linguistic
and cultural character of the area
Conclusion:
The proposal can be supported in principle in policy terms given the overriding need for
affordable housing in the Prestatyn area. Up to 50% of the homes must be secured as
affordable via a section 106 agreement.
Re-consultation response:

Page 33

Confirmed that open space provision has been provided in full onsite, and also confirmed that
based on updated school data, there remains a surplus of places and education contributions
are not required.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
G McKenzie, 11 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Elizabeth Roberts, 6 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mrs M A Jones, 21 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Andria Aspinwall, 10, Brig y Don, Prestatyn
Phil Lowndes, 23 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Sheila Roberts, 19 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Peter Jones, 25 Alexdra Drive, Prestatyn
C. & E. Butt, 35, Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
G. Lowndes, 23, Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Paul C Newman, 45 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Julia Haines, 45 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mr & Mrs Poole, 27 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
B Connall, 33 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
David Duffy, 30 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Samantha Jones, 19 Ffordd Cae Felin, Prestatyn
Mr L Foster & Anita Blayney, 43 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mr P Steed & Ms J W Edwards, 47 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mrs J Lee, 53 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mr & Mrs B Connah, 33 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Peter & Jennifer Bell, 21 Ffordd Ffynnon, Prestatyn
Louise and Anthony Houghton, 18 Ffordd Cae Felin, Prestatyn
Karen Dean, 18 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Adele Roberts, 16 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Barbara Bertoni, 40 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Christian Priestly, 40 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Anne Stapleton, 49 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mrs H Richards, 39 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Derek Shardlow, 5 Maes yr Haf Prestatyn
Debbie Jones, 3, Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Dr James Davies MP, 198 High Street, Prestatyn
Karen Payne, 41 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
James Chappell, 17, Alexandra Drive Prestatyn
James Cumberlidge, 57 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Mr G Hibbert, 15 Ffordd Cae Felin, Prestatyn
Phil Quirk, 79 Ffordd Penrhwylfa, Prestatyn
G McKenzie, 11 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Gillian Lowndes, 23 Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn
Ceri Cairns, 57 Alexandra Drive, Presatyn
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Principle
o Site is outside of LDP development boundary – proposal is contrary to national and local
policy.
o Brownfield land / land within development boundaries should be exhausted first before
new parcels of Greenfield land are released.
o 100% affordable housing scheme do not contribute to social cohesion – developments
should provide for a mix of tenure and social mix.
o Will not benefit local community / no guarantee those on local housing waiting lists will be
allocated a house.
o No need for additional housing in this area.

Page 34

o
o
o

Loss of agricultural land / open green space.
Building on Greenfield land is an unsustainable form of development.
Prestatyn already making a significant contribution to affordable housing delivery – should
be spread out more fairly across the County.

Visual Amenity / Design / Layout
o Housing development would spoil local area / change character and semi-rural setting.
o Have a detrimental impact on character of Prestatyn / Prestatyn will lose it’s identify as a
seaside town.
o Over-intensification of development in the local area, would become just an extension to
existing housing estate.
o Design and appearance of dwellings proposed out of Alexandra Drive bungalows.
o Density too high / much higher density than Alexandra Drive.
o Layout Includes alleyways with no natural surveillance, which would lead to anti-social
behaviour.
o Not followed Design out Crime design principles.
Ecology
o Detrimental effect on local environment & wildlife.
o Loss of trees and hedgerows within site.
Economy
o Low local employment opportunities for proposed residents – residents would have to
commute out of area for work.
o Detrimental impact on the caravan park to the south.
Residential Amenity
o Overbearing impact / loss of light / overlooking / detrimental impact on privacy of
properties along Alexandra Drive’
o Two-storey properties would tower over Alexandra Drive bungalows.
o Detrimental impact on health and well-being of local residents.
o Noise and pollution / would spoil tranquillity currently enjoyed by residents.
o Construction noise, traffic, disruption will detrimentally impact neighbours.
o Increased traffic will have detrimental impact on residents along estate roads leading to
the site.
o Alleyways close to rear gardens of Alexandra Drive pose a risk of crime and anti-social
behaviour.
Drainage / Flood Risk
o The site is undeveloped fields which flood / absorb rainfall and runoff from surrounding
built up areas - developing the site will increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.
o Climate Change is causing an increase in rainfall, which will further increase risk of
flooding – Greenfield land should be retained to mitigate climate change.
o Existing sewers already overloaded / cannot handle more housing.
o Brook / watercourse in area already floods.
o Much of Prestatyn is low lying land and land drainage requires ongoing maintenance.
o Other existing developments in the area have experienced flooding.
o Removal of trees / hedgerow will increase flooding.
o Gardens along Alexandra Drive already experience flooding – site is at higher ground
level to properties along Alexandra Drive, and therefore development would increase risk
of flooding of these properties.
o All new developments will discharge into Prestatyn Cut – cumulative impact of this will
increase flood risk locally.
Highways / Access / Traffic
o Local roads are already too busy / congested and lined with parked cars - increased
traffic arising for the proposed site would be dangerous to other road users, cyclists and
pedestrians, especially along Ffordd Penrwylfa.

Page 35

o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o

o
o
o
o

Existing road junctions leading to the site are dangerous and development with further
increase danger (e.g. junction at Ffordd Pantycelyn / Ffordd Penrwylfa; crossroads
between Ffordd Penrwylfa / Fforddisa).
Road network needs improving.
Existing roads in a poor state of repair.
Roads could not accommodate construction traffic.
Existing traffic calming measures (speed bumps) already increasing traffic queues.
Already experienced increased of traffic on local roads due to increased housing, car
travel to local shops and new school.
Site is not close to a bus service – journeys to and from the proposed estate would be car
based.
Proposal to access the site from existing cul de sac at end of Ffordd Cae Felin will affect
visibility for existing households on Ffordd Cae Felin as they will not be able to see
additional traffic moving from the proposed site.
Existing on-road parking along Ffordd Cae Felin and Ffordd Pantycelyn already blocks
visibility and narrows the road meaning there is only space for one car to pass through at
a time. A further housing development off the same access road will increase traffic
further, and be unsafe.
Emergency vehicles would struggle to access site quickly.
Site is close to children’s play area on Ffordd Pantycelyn – increase in traffic along this
road would be dangerous to children.
Entrance into the site is through Ffordd Cae Felin which is too narrow to cater for the
additional traffic flow.
Additional pressure on A55.

Local Services
o Local services (GPs / Dentists / hospitals, public transport etc.) already at capacity and
could not cope with additional housing.
o Pressure on local schools to accommodate the development.
Cumulative effects
o Cumulative effect of the proposal with recently constructed housing sites and those
currently under construction will not be realised until everything is built and occupied.
Other
o Increase crime and anti -social behaviour.
o Timing of application submitted during pandemic / amended plans and re-consultation
carried out close to Christmas.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 01/10/2020
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 16/6/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):

additional information required from applicant

protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans

re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information

awaiting consideration by Committee
PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The proposal is for the development of 102 affordable dwellings, access roads, open
space and associated infrastructure on a Greenfield site which lies outside of the
Prestatyn development boundary.
1.1.2

The proposed development includes a mix of terrace, semi-detached and detached
properties, including single and two storey dwellings. Plans show dwellings would

Page 36

predominately have brick facing walls with pitched tile roofs, with some properties
having render to the front elevations.
1.1.3

The housing mix proposed is as follows:
Housing Type
2 bed (semi-detached
houses & bungalows)
3 bed (terrace & semidetached)
4 bed semi-detached &
detached houses & 1
detached bungalow)
Total

No of units
30

Percentage
29%

57

56%

15

15%

102

100%

1.1.4

The Deliverability Statement confirms the applicant have agreed terms with a
Registered Social Landlord to construct dwellings subject of this application for their
purchase. Tenure is proposed to be a mix of social and intermediate rent.

1.1.5

Access into the site would be a continuation of the Ffordd Cae Felin estate road.

1.1.6

New internal estate roads and footpaths are proposed within the site, and parking
would be provided for each unit.

1.1.7

The layout seeks to retain sections of existing important hedgerow within this site,
with a small section of hedging and trees to be removed to facilitate the development.

1.1.8

A total of 0.62 hectares of public open space is proposed as sections of recreational
open space adjacent to the wildlife along the western boundary, with a further
sections of open space where existing hedgerow is to be retained.

1.1.9

In terms of landscaping, a wildlife buffer is proposed along the western boundary,
which extends to 0.17ha in area and new planting is proposed within the site. A
Landscape and Ecology Management Plan has been submitted

1.1.10 Foul water would connect to the mains sewer. Detailed drainage plans have been
provided to show the likely connection point to the mains sewer.
1.1.11 Surface water drainage is proposed to discharge to the mains sewer. An onsite
sustainable drainage system incorporating permeable paving and onsite attenuation
storage facilities is proposed to attenuate surface water onsite, and then surface
water would be discharged to the public sewer at a restricted rate to ensure flow is
kept below Greenfield runoff rates.
1.1.12 The proposed site layout is shown on the plan below:

Page 37

1.1.13 Example house types are below:
Detached:

Page 38

Semi detached:

Terraced:

Semi-detached bungalow:

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application

Page 39

1.2.1

In addition to the existing and proposed plans, the following documents have been
submitted with the application:
o Arboricultural Impact Assessment
o Agricultural Land Classification Assessment confirms the land is Grade 3a.
o Ecology Report (Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey)
o Flood Consequences and Drainage Assessment
o Heritage impact Assessment
o Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
o Planning, Design and Access Statement
o PAC Report
o Transport Assessment
o Landscape and Ecology Management Plan
o Deliverability Statement.
o Flood Consequences Assessment Addendum
o Drainage plans

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is made up of three agricultural fields situated on the edge of the Prestatyn
development boundary with a residential housing estate to the north and east of the
site.
1.3.2

There are existing trees and hedgerows within the site which delineate the boundary
between the three fields, and the western boundary abuts a row of existing hedgerow
and trees, with Plas Newydd Farmhouse (Grade II Listed Building) and Plas Newydd
bungalow to the west.

1.3.3

A public right of way runs along the northern boundary which separates the site from
rear gardens of dwellings along Ffordd Cae Felin and Cwrt Berllan, which are part of
the larger housing estate to the north. A post and wire fence runs along the boundary
with the public footpath.

1.3.4

To the east the site abuts rear gardens of residential properties along Alexandra Drive
within the housing estate to the east, and the boundary is predominantly marked by a
variety of domestic fencing and hedges.

1.3.5

To the south is a static caravan park.

1.3.6

The housing estate to the north is a modern early 21st Century housing estate made
up of a mix of two storey detached, semi-detached and terraced properties which
have brick facing walls and tiled pitched roofs, which are of a similar style and form.

1.3.7

Alexandra Drive to the east predominately made up of detached mid-20th century
bungalows, with a small development of more modern semi-detached two storey
properties at the cul de sac at the end of the Drive.

1.3.8

The plan below shows the site in relation to the surrounding area:

Page 40

1.3.9

Site photos:

Page 41

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is outside of the Prestatyn development boundaries established by the LDP.
1.4.2

The land is Grade 3a Agricultural Land, and is therefore considered to be some of the
best and most versatile agricultural land in Wales.

1.4.3

A Grade II Listed building, Plas Newydd Farmhouse, lies to the west of the site.

1.4.4

A Public Right of Way runs along the northern boundary of the site.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 A previous planning application for 114 dwellings, which was put forward as a mixed
market and affordable housing scheme, was submitted in 2019 but which was
withdrawn prior to determination. The current application is for an amended scheme.

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Amended plans and additional information has been submitted in response to the
consultation responses above.
1.6.2

The changes to the scheme as shown on the amended plans include:
o
Reducing the number of dwellings from 106 to 102 dwellings;
o
Changes to the layout to retain more of the existing hedgerow within the site,
and additional new hedgerow planting is also proposed;
o
Proposed dwellings along the eastern boundary have been re-positioned in
order to achieve a 21 metres separation distance between the proposed
dwellings and the existing houses along Alexandra Drive.

1.6.3

A Deliverability Statement has been submitted confirming that the developer is
entering into a contract with Adra (Tai) Cyfyngedig, a Registered Social Landlord, to
construct the dwellings for their purchase and the aim would be to complete the site
within 3 years.

1.6.4

A Landscape and Ecology Management Plan has also been submitted, and lighting
plans have been amended to ensure lighting does not have a detrimental impact on
bats.

Page 42

1.6.5

Amended plans were submitted in May 2021 which related to substitution of house
types, however layout was unchanged. A set out of amended plans and documents
were submitted to reflect the changes to house type.

1.6.6

Additional drainage plans were also submitted in May 2021 which sets out the
detailed surface and foul water drainage proposed. Dwr Cymru, NRW, the Councils
Drainage Officer and Regional Emergency Planning Team were re-consulted on the
application, and any responses received which have not been reported under the
consultation responses section above shall be recorded on the late sheets addendum
report to be circulated prior to the Committee meeting.

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 The agent has confirmed that Adra (Tai) Cynfyngedig would be purchasing all of the
units using Welsh Government grant funding under the Social Housing Grant (SHG)
funding programme.
.
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 43/2019/0629. Erection of 114 no. dwellings, together with associated roads, open space and
related works. Application withdrawn on 15/05/2020.

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy RD5 – The Welsh language and the social and cultural fabric of communities
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC2 – Brownfield development priority
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development
Policy BSC4 – Affordable Housing
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities
Policy VOE1 - Key areas of importance
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy VOE6 – Water management
Policy ASA1 – New transport infrastructure
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Listed Buildings
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning and the Welsh language
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Recreational Public Open Space
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 February 2021

Page 43

Development Control Manual (2016)
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

Technical Advice Notes:
TAN2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN 12 Design (2016)
TAN 15 Development and Flood Risk (2004)
TAN 20 Planning and the Welsh Language (2017)
TAN 21 Waste (2017)
TAN 24 The Historic Environment (2017)
Dear Chief Planning Officer letters:
Increasing the delivery of affordable homes (8 July 2019)
Securing biodiversity enhancements (23 October 2019)
Changes to the planning policy and guidance on the delivery of housing (26 March 2020)
Local Development Plan (LDP) end dates (24 September 2020)
3.3 Other material considerations
Denbighshire County Council Local Housing Market Assessment, (July 2019)
Denbighshire County Council Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2020
Denbighshire County Council LDP AMR 2020
Denbighshire emerging replacement Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy and
evidence base (including population forecasts)
Hedgerow Regulations 1997
Draft National Development Framework (NDF) (Future Wales)

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December
2018) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6
4.1.7
4.1.8
4.1.9

Principle
Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land
Visual amenity (including design & layout)
Density and housing type and mix
Residential amenity
Ecology
Drainage (including flooding)
Highways (including access and parking)
Open Space

Page 44

4.1.10 Education
4.1.11 Impact on heritage assets
4.1.12 Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (PPW 11) at 1.22 states planning applications must
be determined in accordance with the adopted plan, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
Future Wales and the Denbighshire Local Development Plan (LDP) make up the
statutory development plan for the area.
Future Wales Policy 7 states in response to local and regional needs, planning
authorities should identify sites for affordable housing led developments and explore
all opportunities to increase the supply of affordable housing.
Future Wales Policy 21 supports sustainable growth and regeneration in regionally
important towns along the northern Coast, including Prestatyn.
LDP Policy BSC1 seeks to make provision for new housing in a range of locations,
concentrating development within development boundaries of towns and villages. It
encourages provision of a range of house sizes, types and tenure to reflect local need
and demand and the Local Housing market assessment.
LDP Policy BSC3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute where relevant to the provision of infrastructure including
affordable housing, in line with Policy BSC4.
LDP Policy BSC4 seeks to ensure, where relevant, 10% affordable housing either on
site on developments of 10 or more residential units or by way of a financial
contribution on development of less than 10 residential units. BSC4 also states
proposals for 100% affordable housing sites will only be considered on sites of 10
units or less.
PPW 11 at 3.60 states development

in the countryside should be located within and
adjoining those settlements where it can best be accommodated in terms of
infrastructure, access, habitat and landscape conservation. Infilling or minor
extensions to existing settlements may be acceptable, in particular where they meet a
local need for affordable housing or it can be demonstrated that the proposal will
increase local economic activity. However, new building in the open countryside away
from existing settlements or areas allocated for development in development plans
must continue to be strictly controlled. All new development should be of a scale and
design that respects the character of the surrounding area.

PPW 11 at 4.2.25 states a community’s need for affordable housing is a material planning
consideration which must be taken into account in formulating development plan
policies and determining relevant planning applications.

The Welsh Ministers Dear Chief Planning Officer letter ‘Increasing the delivery of
affordable homes’ (8 July 2019) makes clear the commitment to diversifying housing
supply in Wales with the need to focus attention on the delivery of social housing
The Welsh Ministers Dear Chief Planning Officer letter dated 26 March 2020 removed
the five-year housing land supply policy and replaces it with a policy statement
making it explicit that the housing trajectory, as set out in the adopted LDP, will be the
basis for monitoring the delivery of development plan housing requirements. The
letter states this new approach will ensure that the monitoring of housing delivery,

Page 45

including the response to under-delivery, is an integral part of the process of LDP
preparation, monitoring and review.
There is detailed guidance in TAN2 and in the Affordable Housing SPG on the
approach to provision and demand.
Representations from the Town Council, the public and the Council’s Strategic
Planning and Housing Officers raise significant objections to the principle of the
proposal. The Strategic Housing and Planning Officer supports the principle of the
proposal as a departure from the LDP due to the overriding need for affordable
housing in the Prestatyn area.
The site lies outside of the Prestatyn development boundary as defined in the LDP,
and is therefore considered to be open countryside in planning terms. National and
local planning policy seeks to strictly control development in open countryside
locations.
The site is however located on the edge of the Prestatyn development boundary
where a range of local services are located, so the site could be considered to be
sustainably located.
Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The application is for 100% affordable housing. LDP Policy BSC 8 Rural Exceptions
sites makes provision for the consideration of 100% affordable housing sites outside
of but adjacent to development boundaries. The policy does not apply to the identified
lower growth towns of which Prestatyn is one so the application cannot be considered
under this policy.
The proposal also exceeds the recommended threshold of 10% of the number of
dwellings on a development in excess of 10 units under Policy BSC4.
The need for affordable housing is however well established throughout
Denbighshire, and is a material consideration to be afforded weight. The LDP Annual
Monitoring Report 2019 reports the LDP has under delivered on affordable housing
over the plan period.
Prestatyn has the greatest need for affordable housing as identified in the published
Local Housing Market Assessment (2019). The housing market information provided
by the Strategic Housing and Planning Officer sets out in detail the need, but in
summary, 59% of all households in the Prestatyn and Meliden housing market area
cannot afford to rent or purchase a home on the open market. This is the highest level
of need in Denbighshire. There are currently 1,716 unique applicants on the SARTH
(social) housing list and 121 applicants on the Tai Teg intermediate housing waiting
list. In the past 5 years, 28 affordable homes have been delivered in Prestatyn, under
a variety of schemes including New Build, Homebuy and Empty Homes. 22 affordable
homes have been delivered through the planning system which is 21% of all homes
delivered in Prestatyn in the past 5 years.
National policy emphasises the need to increase the supply of affordable housing.
Recent ministerial ‘Dear Chief Planning Officer’ letters, Future Wales and PPW
identify that there is an exceptional need for affordable housing, and that this need is
not being met through the general housing market.
Whilst the site lies outside of the Prestatyn development boundary and a residential
development in this location would be contrary to the Local Development Plan, the
under-delivery of affordable housing over the plan period and the overriding need for
affordable housing in the Prestatyn area are considered to be material considerations
to be afforded significant weight.

Page 46

A Deliverability Statement has been submitted confirming that the developer is
entering into a contract with Adra (Tai) Cyfyngedig, a Registered Social Landlord, to
construct the dwellings for their purchase and the aim would be to complete the site
within 3 years.
The agent has also confirmed in writing that Adra would be purchasing the units using
Welsh Government grant funding under the Social Housing Grant (SHG) funding
programme.
Where new affordable housing is funded through Welsh Government grants which
restricts the award of the funds to affordable housing only, national policy states there
is no need to duplicate controls at the planning application stage.
However in this case, whilst the properties would be built for purchase by a
Registered Social Landlord using grant funding, the applicant is a private developer,
and Officers consider it necessary to secure the affordable housing through legal
agreement.
Given the scale of need for affordable housing in the Prestatyn area, Officers would
consider the opportunity to deliver a significant amount of affordable housing in a
sustainable location on land which abuts the Prestatyn development boundary would
outweigh the adopted Local Development Plan in this instance, subject to the delivery
of 100% of the properties being affordable being secured by condition and legal
agreement. Officers have proposed conditions be imposed requiring the consent to be
commenced within 3 years rather than the standard 5 year commencement period.

4.2.2

Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land
PPW 11 Section 3.58 and 3.59 obliges weight to be given to protecting land of grades
1, 2, and 3a quality in the Agricultural land Classification (ALC). PPW notes this land
is considered to be the best and most versatile and justifies conservation as a finite
resource for the future. It indicates that land of this quality should only be developed if
there is an overriding need for the development, and either previously developed land
or land of a lower grade is available, or available lower grade land has an
environmental value recognised by a landscape, wildlife, historic or archaeological
designation which outweighs the agricultural considerations.
The Strategic Housing and Planning Officer has raised an objection to the proposal
on the grounds of unjustified loss of best and most versatile agricultural land.
Representations from the Town Council and the public also raise objections to the
proposal due to loss of agricultural land.
An Agricultural Land Classification Report has been submitted with the application,
which confirms a survey was carried out in March 2019, the results of which
confirmed the site is wholly 3a agricultural land.
In accordance with the tests set out in the PPW to justify the loss of high grade
agricultural land, the Planning, Design and Access Statement includes details of a
sequential site assessment which has been undertaken and which considers other
sites within, and on the edge of, the Prestatyn development boundary, including land
allocated for housing at Midnant Farmstead, the Market Site, Gas Works Lane, and
employment land at Warren Lane within the development boundary. Greenfield sites
on the periphery of Prestatyn were also considered, but which were found to be of
similar agricultural value to the application site, not available for development of
insufficient size or to be locationally constrained due to green barrier or conservation
rea designations which were found to be more sensitive than the application site in
landscape and visual terms.

Page 47

Therefore, all sites which were considered were found to be either of equal
agricultural value or more sensitively sited, constrained, or not readily available for
housing development, and therefore the sequential site assessment concluded that
there are no sequentially preferable, available sites either within or on the edge of
Prestatyn development boundary that area capable of accommodating the proposed
development.
The supporting information therefore provides an assessment of other potential sites
of lower or equal grade in support of the application and Officers consider this
assessment is to adequately address the issue of BMV land, and due to the
overriding need for affordable housing in the Prestatyn area, the loss of 3a agricultural
land is considered to be justified in this instance.

4.2.3

Visual amenity (including design & layout)
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
PPW 11 Section 6.3.3 states ‘All the landscapes of Wales are valued for their intrinsic
contribution to a sense of place, and local authorities should protect and enhance
their special characteristics, whilst paying due regard to the social, economic,
environmental and cultural benefits they provide, and to their role in creating valued
places.’
Representations from members of the public have raised concerns on visual amenity
grounds.
The site is an existing agricultural field on the edge of the development boundary of
Prestatyn, with housing developments to the north and east and a caravan park to the
south. To the west lies a Grade II Listed farmhouse and farming buildings and fields.
The proposed development would comprise a mix of terrace, semi-detached and
detached two storey properties and bungalows with brick facing walls and pitched
tiled roofs, with some properties having mix of brick and render to the front elevation
to add detail. A materials schedule has been submitted with the application.
An LVIA has been submitted with the application which considers the impact of the
proposal on landscape character and visual amenity, and includes an assessment of
impact from a number of viewpoints, which concludes that, subject to the landscaping
scheme being implemented, the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on
visual amenity or landscape character.
The site is outside any development boundaries, however it is acknowledged that it is
broadly enclosed by existing built development and its development would not appear
as an illogical encroachment into open countryside and the development would most
likely appear as an extension to the modern housing estate to the north, and
accordingly the proposal would not be out of keeping with the character of the
immediate locale of the site.
The layout is that of a typical modern housing estate, and housing types are spread
throughout the site so that the development appears as a homogenous development
proposal.
The landscaping scheme includes provision of public open space along the western
boundary with existing hedgerow within the site largely being retained. Additional

Page 48

planting is proposed throughout the site. A Landscaping and Ecology Management
Plan has been submitted.
Notwithstanding the concerns raised by public representations, having regard to the
location, siting, scale and form of the development and the conclusions of the LVIA,
subject to landscaping conditions being imposed, Officers do not consider the
proposal would give rise to unacceptable impacts on landscape character and visual
amenity.

4.2.4

Density and housing type and mix
Policy RD1 test ii) states that a minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare (d/ha)
should be achieved in order to ensure the most efficient use of land, and that these
minimum standards should be achieved unless there are local circumstances that
dictate a lower density.
The main Local Development Plan Policy which refers to housing type and mix in new
development is Policy BSC 1. The policy seeks to make provision for new housing in
a range of locations, concentrating development within development boundaries of
towns and villages, and sets out an expectation on developers ‘to provide a range of
house sizes, types and tenure to reflect local need and demand and the results of the
Local Housing Market Assessment’
Whilst the site is not within the development boundary, Officers nevertheless consider
matters the density and housing mix requirements expressed in the policies above to
be material.
The Council has recently published a Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA)
(July 2019).
Developers are encouraged to include a mix of housing sizes to reflect this need as
well as the aspiration for additional bedrooms. Table 24 within the LHMA defines the
recommended mix of market housing types on residential sites.
The Council’s Strategic Planning and Housing Officer has advised the proposed
density is considered acceptable.
The table below compares the propsoed housing mix against the suggested mix in
the Local Housing Market Assessment.
Housing Mix
1 + 2 bed

3 bed

4 bed+

Total

LHMA Recommending
Housing Mix (Market
Housing)

30%

35%

35%

100%

Alexandra Drive proposal

29%

56%

15%

100%

It is noted however that the Local Housing Market Assessment suggested mix relates
to market housing schemes, whereas the proposal is for a 100% affordable housing
scheme.
The Strategic Planning and Housing Officer has advised that the greatest affordable
need is for 2 bed and 3 bed properties.
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposals would provide for an
appropriate density and mix of dwellings, consistent with the intentions of Policy
BSC1 and RD1.

Page 49

4.2.5

Residential amenity
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The Residential Design Guidance and the Residential Development SPG offers
advice and guidance on the principles to be adopted when designing new residential
development.
The Residential Space Standards SPG specifies minimum internal floorspace
standards for new developments and requires that 40m2 of private external amenity
space should be provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings.
Representations from members of the public have raised concerns on residential
amenity grounds in terms of loss of light, overlooking and overbearing impact.
To the north, a public footpath lies between the site and the curtilage of residential
dwellings along Ffordd Cae Felin and Cwrt Berllan. To the east the site abuts the rear
residential gardens of properties along Alexandra Drive, to the south the site abuts a
caravan park and the rear garden of a dwelling at 52 Ffordd Ffynnon, and to the west
lies the Plas Newydd farmhouse and bungalow residences.
In terms of the dwellings proposed, the proposed floor plans for each housing type
would meet or exceed the minimum floor space standards set out in the Residential
Space Standards SPG and the proposed site plans show sufficient garden space is
provided for each unit.
In terms of privacy and overlooking, the Residential Development SPG at 6.41 states
“Extensions and new built houses should not overlook neighbouring houses or
gardens. If habitable rooms such as bedrooms, living rooms, studies or kitchens are
proposed on the first floor or above, care should be taken to avoid direct overlooking
from windows and balconies particularly where the extension is close to the boundary.
In some cases such as sloping sites, care should be taken to avoid overlooking from
ground floor extensions.” At 6.43 it states that “Where a proposed window to a
lounge, dining room, bedroom or kitchen will directly face a similar window or a
neighbouring property the distance between them should be at least 21 metres in a
back to back situation. Where direct overlooking of a lounge, dining room, bedroom or
kitchen can be avoided by the positioning of the windows then the distance can be a
minimum of 18 metres.”
A 21m set back has been maintained between dwellings within the site and between
proposed dwellings and existing dwellings to the north and south.
Amended plans have also been submitted during the course of the application which
sought to reposition dwellings along the eastern boundary to ensure a 21m separation
distance between proposed dwellings and existing dwellings along Alexandra Drive
was achieved.
Properties along Alexandra Drive are predominately bungalows, and whilst the
ground is undulating, Officers consider a separation distance of 21m in this instance
is sufficient to protect the amenity of occupiers of properties along Alexandra Drive
from unacceptable levels of overlooking and to avoid the proposal giving rise to an
overbearing impact when viewed from these properties and from private back
gardens.

Page 50

Officers acknowledge that the proposed development would inevitably affect the
outlook and sense of openness currently enjoyed by occupants of neighbouring
properties, however a private view is not a material planning consideration. Whilst the
amenity of neighbouring properties will be impacted by the proposed development,
having regard the layout and the separation distances proposed, the level of harm is
not considered to be sufficient to justify a refusal on residential amenity grounds.

4.2.6

Ecology
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant
harm to such interests. This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales
(Section 6.4), current legislation and SPG 18 – Nature Conservation and Species
Protection, which stress the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity
objectives through promoting approaches to development which create new
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for
losses where damage is unavoidable.
This reflects policy and guidance in PPW 11 Section 6.4 ‘Biodiversity and Ecological
Networks’, current legislation and the Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
SPG, which stress the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity
objectives through promoting approaches to development which create new
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for
losses where damage is unavoidable.
PPW 11 sets out that “planning authorities must seek to maintain and enhance
biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that development should not
cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or nationally
and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (Section 6.4.5). PPW also draws
attention to the contents of Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which
sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to demonstrate they have taken all
reasonable steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their
functions. It is important that biodiversity and resilience considerations are taken into
account at an early stage when considering development proposals (Section 6.4.4)
The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 are intended to protect important hedges in the
countryside from destruction or damage. Under the Hedgerow Regulations, to be
deemed 'important' a hedgerow must meet one or more of the criteria contained in
Part II of the Regulations.
Representations have been received from the Town Council and members of the
public raising objection on ecological grounds. NRW have raised no objection.
Following submission of amended plans, the Ecology Officer has raised no objection
to the proposal subject to conditions being imposed.
The layout has been amended during the course of the application which now show a
significant proportion of existing important hedgerow within the site is retained and
additional planting is proposed within the site. A wildlife buffer is proposed along the
western boundary and a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan has been
submitted. Lighting plans have also been amended to ensure illuminance of lighting
within the site is designed to minimise impact on bats.
Having regard to the amended plans and the supporting documents submitted,
subject to conditions being imposed, Officers do not consider the proposal would
adversely impact on ecological interests.

4.2.7

Drainage (including flooding)
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,

Page 51

and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
PPW 11 Section 6.6.22 to 6.6.29 identifies flood risk as a material consideration in
planning and along with TAN 15 – Development and Flood Risk, which provides a
detailed framework within which risks arising from different sources of flooding should
be assessed. TAN 15 advises that in areas which are defined as being of high flood
hazard, development proposals should only be considered where:
 new development can be justified in that location, even though it is likely to be
at risk from flooding; and
 the development proposal would not result in the intensification of existing
development which may itself be at risk; and
 new development would not increase the potential adverse impacts of a flood
event
Representations from the Town Council and members of the public have raised
objection to the proposal on grounds of drainage and an increased risk of flooding.
The Council’s Drainage Engineer has confirmed the site would require SAB approval,
but has not provided comment on the principle of the surface water drainage.
NRW have raised no objections on flood risk grounds.
Dwr Cymru has raised no objection to the principle of the proposed drainage
arrangements, subject to conditions being imposed.
Flood risk and drainage proposals are considered below.
Flood Risk:
The site is located within Zone A flood risk zone, which TAN15 defines as areas
which are considered to be at little or no risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding.
A Flood Consequences and Drainage Assessment has been submitted and which
considers the risk of tidal, fluvial, surface water and groundwater flooding, and which
considers the risks of flooding are acceptable subject to finished floor levels being set
0.15 m above adjacent ground levels.
The FCA Addendum states that, as the proposed surface water drainage proposals
for the site include for onsite attenuation to retain flows in excess of the Greenfield
runoff rates, this would result in a reduction in offsite surface water flow during periods
of rain, and therefore the proposal would not result in an increase of flood risk offsite.
Drainage:
Foul water is proposed to discharge to the mains sewer. Dwr Cymru have confirmed
there is sufficient capacity to accommodate the development.
The FCA Addendum states surface water drainage is proposed to discharge to the
mains sewer as ground conditions are not suitable to discharge water to ground, and
discharge to an offsite watercourse is not feasible due to distance and third party land
ownership constraints.
Due to the site topography and the proposed site layout, two surface water discharge
connections are required. The first connection would be to the north-east into existing
manhole located off Cwrt Berllan. The second connection would be to the north-west
into existing manhole located in Ffordd Cae Felin at the development entrance.

Page 52

An onsite sustainable drainage system is proposed which incorporates permeable
paving and on-site attenuation storage facilities. Surface water would then be
attenuated onsite, and discharge to the public sewer would be restricted to not
exceed Greenfield runoff rates.
With respect to the concerns raised by local residents on drainage and flood risk
grounds, having regard to the absence of objections from statutory consultees
regarding the principle of the proposal, the proposed foul and surface water drainage
arrangements and the findings of the Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment, Officers
conclude the proposal would not give rise to unacceptable impact on flood risk,
subject to the flood risk mitigation measures set out in the Flood Consequences
Assessment being secured by condition.

1.1.1

Highways (including access and parking
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Policy ASA 2 of the LDP identifies that schemes may be required to provide or
contribute to the following;
o Capacity improvements or connection to the cycle network;
o Provision of walking and cycling links with public transport facilities;
o Improvement of public transport services
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards.
These policies reflect general principles set out in PPW 11 and TAN 18 – Transport,
in support of sustainable development.
Representations have been received from the Town Council and local residents
raising objections to the proposal on highway safety grounds. North Wales Fire
Service has advised that internal roads should be wide enough for emergence service
vehicles to manoeuvre.
Highways Officers have confirmed the internal roads are suitable for emergency
vehicles and, have advised the following:
Capacity of Existing Network
As part of the detailed Transport Assessment provided by the developer, three
junctions were assessed on request of the Highways Authority. These included Ffordd
Penrhwylfa / Ffordd Pant Y Celyn junction, Ffordd Penrhwylfa / Ffordd Fynnon /
Ffordd Isa junction and A548 Victoria Road / Ceg Y Ffordd Signalised Junction. As
per typical guidance, a future assessment year of 2025 has been adopted for the
Transport Assessment (i.e. based on the year of application + 5 years for
developments outside of the strategic road network). The capacity assessments have
been undertaken in 2025 ‘with’ and ‘without’ development scenarios.
The Highways Authority also requested the Transport Assessment to take into
account the residential development at Mindale Farm, Meliden (Application
Reference: 43/2018/0750). The development traffic flows have been obtained from
the submitted Transport Assessment for the aforementioned development and input
through the Transport Assessment study area.

Page 53

Ffordd Penrhwylfa / Ffordd Pant Y Celyn junction and the A548 Victoria Road / Ceg Y
Ffordd Signalised Junction have both been shown to operate within the practical
capacity threshold.
The Transport Assessment shows the Ffordd Penrhwylfa north approach to the
Ffordd Penrhwylfa / Ffordd Fynnon / Ffordd Isa junction is anticipated to operate over
its practical capacity during the AM peak period, without the proposed development in
place. However with the additional volume of traffic generated by the new
development the assessment threshold and queue length is not predicted to
materially increase.
Having regard to the scale of the proposed development, the existing highways
network and the submitted highways details, it is considered that the proposals would
not have an unacceptable impact on the local highways network in terms of capacity.
However, due to the increase in traffic along the existing road network and in
particular Ffordd Penrhwylfa, the Highway Authority considers additional traffic
calming along Ffordd Penrhwylfa is necessary to ensure the proposal doesn't result in
any adverse harm to highway safety.
Accessibility
A detailed assessment of the accessibility of the site by non-car modes of transport
has been provided in the Transport Assessment. As summarised in the assessment,
the site is considered to be well served by all major non-car modes of transport.
Additional access points onto the Public Right of Way are also proposed.
Having regard to the location of the existing site and existing arrangements it is
considered that the proposals are acceptable in terms of accessibility and the policy
requirements identified above.
Site Access
Vehicular access to the development is proposed via an extension to Ffordd Cae
Felin. Pedestrian and cycle access into the site will be provided at the same location
as the vehicular access. The existing PROW will be incorporated into the extension to
Ffordd Cae Felin.
Considering the access point is an extension to an existing highway, the visibility
standards set out in Annex B TAN 18 have not been taken into account.
Site Layout (including roads, pavements, manoeuvring, lighting etc.)
The proposed site has a main internal estate road measuring 5.5m in width with
access to more minor residential cul-de-sacs reducing to 4.8m. 2.0m footways/service
margins will be provided throughout the site. In order to demonstrate that the site can
be serviced sufficiently, swept path analysis of a large 4-axle refuse vehicle has been
undertaken at the turning heads within the site. The swept path analysis
demonstrates that a vehicle of this size can turn within the site at appropriate points,
and exit the site in a forward gear.
Having regard to the details provided and guidance identified above, it is considered
that the on-site highways arrangements are acceptable.
Having regard to the detailed assessments above, taking into consideration the
capacity of the existing highway network, accessibility, site access and site layout,
Highways Officers would see no reason to object to the proposed development
subject to a financial contribution to cover cost of necessary traffic calming along
Ffordd Penrhwylfa being secured and to the following conditional controls:
Conclusion:
Officers consider a financial contribution to cover cost of traffic calming measures
along Ffordd Penrhwylfa can be adequately secured by way of a legal agreement.

Page 54

Whilst acknowledging the concerns of the Town Council and local residents regarding
traffic and congestion along roads leading to the site, and in particular the Ffordd
Penrhwylfa north approach to the Ffordd Penrhwylfa / Ffordd Fynnon / Ffordd Isa
junction which the Transport Assessment acknowledges already operates over its
practical capacity during the morning peak period, Highway Officers are of the view
that the additional traffic from the proposed development would not materially
increase the volume of queuing traffic at peak times at this junction. Having regard to
the findings of the Transport Assessment and the detailed assessment carried out by
Highway Officers, Officers would conclude the proposal would not give rise to
unacceptable impact on highway safety, subject to traffic calming measures being
secured.

1.1.2

Open Space
Policy BSC 3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, including
recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate
provision for recreation and open space.
Table 4 in the Open Space SPG (adopted March 2017) sets out thresholds for on-site
provision and financial contributions. It specifies that for schemes of 1 – 30 dwellings,
open space obligations should be met through financial contributions rather than
onsite provision, however 5.4.9 of the SPG does state that the thresholds are
indicative, and onsite provision for sites of less than 30 will be considered on their
merits.
An Open Space Assessment and Audit Report has been completed by the Council
and provides the evidence base for Policy BSC 11. The report assesses the quantity,
quality and accessibility of existing open spaces in the County on a community area
basis with some additional information on an electoral ward basis.
In relation to the application, the Open Space Assessment shows there is a deficiency
of open space in Prestatyn.
On the basis of 102 dwellings, the following Community Recreational Open Space
(CROS) and Children’s Play Space (CPA) is required.

A total of .056 hectares is therefore required.
A total of 0.63 hectares is proposed within the development, which is proposed as
community recreational open space which exceeds the requirement of 0.56hectares.

Page 55

Whilst a children’s play space is not proposed within the development, Officers would
note that there is a fully equipped children’s play area and sports facility situated on
Ffordd Pantycelyn approximately 100m to the north of the proposed development.
The Landscape and Ecology Management Plan includes details of short and long
term management of the public open space
Given that the public open space provision exceeds the requirements of the SPG and
the proximity to an existing equipped children’s play area, subject to conditions being
imposed to secure details of management and maintenance, Officers consider the
public open space provision is acceptable.

1.1.3

Education
Objective 12 of Chapter 4 of the Local Development Plan identifies that the Plan will
ensure that an adequate level of community infrastructure (including schools) will be
provided alongside new developments. Policy BSC 3 seeks to ensure, where
relevant, infrastructure contributions from development.
The Planning Obligations SPG states that Education contributions will be sought from
proposed developments which comprise of 5 or more dwellings, or a site area of 0.2
hectares or more, that have the potential to increase demand on local schools.
Representations have been received from the Town Council and the public raising
concerns in relation to the impact of the proposal on local services and schools.
Having consulted with the local education authority, the Strategic Planning and
Housing Officer has advised that there is sufficient capacity at the local primary and
secondary schools in the area at present and therefore based on current data, the
proposal would be unlikely to generate the need for a planning contribution due to
current surplus places. It is noted that school roll information changes frequently, but
at the time of writing the report, Officers would conclude there is sufficient capacity
within local schools to accommodate the development, and accordingly a commuted
sum in not required in this instance.

1.1.4

Impact on heritage assets
Local Development Plan Policy VOE1 seeks to protect sites of built heritage from
development which would adversely affect them, and requires that development
proposals should maintain and wherever possible enhance them for their
characteristics, local distinctiveness and value to local communities.
PPW 11 Section 6 ‘Distinctive and Natural Places’ refers specifically to the need to
ensure the character of historic buildings is safeguarded from alterations, extensions,
or demolition that would compromise their special architectural and historic interest.;
and Section 6.1.10 indicates that where a development proposal affects a listed
building or its setting, the primary material consideration is the statutory requirement
to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting, and
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Section 4 of TAN 24 - The Historic Environment sets out similar considerations to be
given by a local planning authority to the determination of applications involving
archaeological remains, and their settings. It outlines different scenarios obliging
consideration of impacts and stresses the need for submissions to include relevant
surveys, studies and assessments, and mitigation proposals.
The Conservation Officer has advised that the wildlife corridor and public open space
along the western boundary of the site will provide a sufficient buffer to protect the
setting of the listed building. Following submission of amended plans which seeks to

Page 56

retain the majority of the important hedgerow on site, CPAT have no objection to the
proposal.
A Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) has been submitted which considers the impact
of the proposal heritage assets including Plas Newydd Grade II Listed Building to the
west of the site. The HIA confirms the impact of the proposal on the setting of Plas
Newydd would be minor.
The site comprises three fields with substantial hedgerow and the HIA records the
field boundaries within the site are depicted on the 1839 tithe survey, and therefore
pre-date the Enclosures Act and are likely to be contemporary with the 17th-century
Plasnewydd Farmhouse. The HIA and CPAT in their consultation response have
confirmed these hedgerows would therefore meet the criteria of the Hedgerow Act
1997 as ‘important’
Amended plans have been submitted which show the majority of the existing
hedgerow would be retained within the site and incorporated into public open space.
Subject to conditions to ensure hedgerow and wildlife buffer are maintained, the
proposal is not adjudged to give rise to any unacceptable impact on heritage assets.

1.1.5

Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric
The requirement to consider the needs and interests of the Welsh Language is set out
in PPW 11, TAN 20 and LDP Policy RD5.
TAN 20 provides the most up to date guidance on the consideration of the Welsh
Language.
The site lies outside development boundaries and is therefore a windfall site for the
purposes of TAN20.
The Strategic Planning and Housing Officer has noted that in the 2011 Census that
15.1% of the residents of Prestatyn were Welsh speaking, one of the lowest
percentages in Denbighshire.
It is also noted affordable housing will be allocated to local households based on the
local letting policy of the Registered Social Landlord which should not affect the
linguistic and cultural make-up of the area.
Having regard to the comments of the Strategic Planning and Housing Officer, it is not
considered that this development proposal will have a significant impact on the
linguistic and cultural character of the area.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that

Page 57

there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

2. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
2.1 The site lies outside of the development boundary of Prestatyn as defined in the adopted
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (LDP) and consequently the principle of development
on this land is considered contrary to local and national planning policy.
2.2 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) Section 1.22 states that “planning applications must be
determined in accordance with the adopted plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
2.3 A significant number of objections have been received from Prestatyn Town Council and
Members of the public raising a number of concerns on grounds of principle, visual amenity,
residential amenity, flood risk and drainage, highway safety and increased traffic and
ecological impacts.
2.4 Given the scale of need for affordable housing in the Prestatyn area, Officers would consider
the opportunity to deliver a significant amount of affordable housing in a sustainable location
on land which abuts the Prestatyn development boundary would outweighs the adopted Local
Development Plan in this instance, subject to affordable homes being secured by condition
and legal agreement. Officers have proposed conditions be imposed requiring the consent to
be commenced within 3 years rather than the standard 5 year commencement period. The
principle is therefore considered to be acceptable.
2.5 Notwithstanding the objections raised, Officers consider adverse impacts identified can be
mitigated through the imposition of conditions.
2.6 .It is therefore recommended that Members resolve to grant planning permission as a
departure from the Local Development Plan subject to:A.

Completion of a Section 106 Obligation / Unilateral Undertaking (UU) to secure housing
as affordable in perpetuity and to secure a financial contribution towards traffic calming
measures along Ffordd Penrhwyfa (amount to be agreed).

The precise wording of the agreement would be a matter for the legal officer to finalise. In the
event of failure to complete the agreement within 12 months of the date of the resolution of
the planning committee, the application would be reported back to the Committee for
determination against the relevant policies and guidance at that time. The Certificate of
Decision would not be released until the completion of the agreement.
B. Compliance with the following conditions:
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 16th June
2023

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission
(i) Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (P.1157.19B) recieved 19 November 2020
(ii) Landscape proposal (Drawing No. P.1157.19.16C) received 17 May 2021
(iii) Planting Plan (Drawing No. P.1157.19.17C) received 17 May 2021
(iv) Topographical survey (Drawing No. 9778-1A 30.08.17 - 1-4) received 13 July 2020
(v) Proposed site plan (Drawing No. ALXPR-SP01 Rev. G) received 17 May 2021
(vi) Location plan (Drawing No. ALXPR-LP.01) received 13 July 2020
(vii) Housetypes - floor and elevations (Rev. B) received 17 May 2021

Page 58

(viii) Lighting layout (Drawing No. 21810-D-01C) received 17 May 2021
(ix) Outdoor lighting report (Drawing No. 21810-A-01C) received 17 May 2021
(x) Material schedule (Rev. B) received 17 May 2021
(xi) Transport Assessment - March 2021 received 17 May 2021
(xii) Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (Rev. A) received 17 May 2021
(xiii) Flood Consequences and Drainage Assessment v1.4 received 17 May 2021
(xiv) Heritage Impact Assessment (CPAT_1719-2a) received 17 May 2021
(xv) Deliverability Statement received 17 May 2021
(xvi) Planning Design and Access Statement V4 received 17 May 2021
(xvii) Ecology Report (Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey March 2019, Cheshire Ecological
Services Ltd) received 13 July 2020
(xviii) Arboricultural Impact Assessment P.1157.19 Rev. D received 17 May 2021
(xix) Agricultural land specification received 13 July 2020
(xx) Engineering Appraisal (Drawing No. 10-01 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxi) Longitudinal Sections 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 10-02-01 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxii) Longitudinal Sections 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 10-02-02 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxiii) Longitudinal Sections 3 of 3 (Drawing No. 10-02-03 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxiv) PDS Manhole Schedules (Drawing No. 10-03 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxv) Cut and Fill Volumetrics (Drawing No. 10-04 Rev. P1) received 17 May 2021
(xxvi) FCA Addendum (dated 1st April 2021) received 17 May 2021
3.

All dwellings hereby approved shall be provided and retained as affordable and no dwelling
shall be permitted to be sold, rented or occupied as market housing at any time.

4.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
No site clearance or construction works shall be permitted to commence until the written
approval of the Local Planning Authority has been obtained to a detailed Construction Method
Statement. The Statement shall provide details of:
a) the arrangements for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
b) the location of any construction compound and measures to reinstate the land following
completion of the works;
c) the hours of site works and deliveries;
d) the proposed routing of delivery vehicles, and directional signing along public roads where
necessary;
e) the location of areas designated for the loading, unloading, and storage of plant and
materials;
f) the proposals for security fencing or hoardings around the site;
g) pollution prevention and control measures, including measures to control the emission of
dust and dirt and to prevent pollution of watercourses;
h) the measures to minimise noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties;
i) wheel washing facilities;
j) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
k) any proposed external lighting;
l) the piling methods, in the event that this form of foundation construction is proposed.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved elements of the
Construction Method Statement throughout the construction period.

5.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
Prior to the commencement of the development, the detailed layout, design, means of traffic
calming within the development / along Ffordd Penrhwylfa, street lighting, signing, drainage /
construction of the internal estate road/ access to the site, footway links and associated
highway works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme shall proceed in accordance with such approved details.

6.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk Mitigation Measures
contained in Chapter 5 of the Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment (Westwood Final Report
v1.4 November 2020) received on the 17th May 2021.

7.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION

Page 59

No development shall take place until a fully detailed scheme of foul drainage has been
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority and the approved scheme shall
be completed before the occupation of the first dwelling.
8.

The areas of public open space shall be managed and maintained in strict accordance with
the approved Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (Rev A) received 17 May 2021.

9.

No dwellings shall be permitted to be occupied until details of the management company who
will be responsible for carrying out the long term management and maintenance of the public
open space as set out in Sections 6, 7 and 8 of the approved Landscape and Ecology
Management Plan (Rev A) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

10.

All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out no later than
the first planting and seeding season following the commencement of development. Any
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die,
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing.

11.

All trees and hedges to be retained as part of the development hereby permitted shall be
protected during site clearance and construction work by 1 metre high fencing erected 1
metre outside the outermost limits of the branch spread, or in accordance with an alternative
scheme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no construction materials or
articles of any description shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk
or hedgerow and such fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised
or lowered, or any trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.

12.

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved a plan indicating the positions,
height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected shall be submitted to
and approved by the local planning authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as
approved before the first occupation of any dwelling.

13.

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling, details of an Ecological Compliance Audit (ECA)
for the scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The ECA shall be completed in accordance with the submitted details.

14.

Access for hedgehogs (of at least one 13cm x 13cm opening per garden) shall be made at
ground level through the fencing used to separate the gardens of each property, to allow the
movement of hedgehogs throughout the site.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
to ensure the development delivers affordable housing expediently to address current shortfall
in affordable housing in Prestatyn.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
To secure housing as affordable in perpetuity.
In the interests of the safety and the free flow of traffic on the adjoining highway, pollution
prevention and control, and to protect residential amenity of neighbouring properties.
In the interest of the free and safe movement and traffic on the adjacent highway and to
ensure the formation of a safe and satisfactory access.
To ensure relevant measures are undertaken to limit any risks arising from flooding.
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and
safety of existing residents, ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment and in the
interests of flood risk management.

Page 60

8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

In the interests of visual amenity, nature conservation and to ensure ecological mitigation and
enhancement measures are provided.
In the interests of visual amenity, nature conservation and to ensure ecological mitigation and
enhancement measures are provided.
In the interests of visual amenity.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interests and visual and residential amenity.
In the interests of nature conservation and to ensure ecological mitigation and enhancement
measures are provided.
In order to protect ecological interests.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
WARD :

Prestatyn North

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Rachel Flynn
Cllr Tony Flynn
Cllr Paul Penlington (c)

APPLICATION NO:

43/2021/0063/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of a 3 metre high timber panel and post fence to screen
caravan and erection of decking and ramp to serve caravan

LOCATION:

23 Grosvenor Road Prestatyn LL19 7NW

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

43/2021/0063
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 306132, 383303
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 14:50:42
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

23 Grosvenor Road, Prestatyn
Photos taken by Case Officer 13/03/2021 and 27/05/2021 on site,
road frontage and from no. 10 Norton Avenue
1. Site frontage from Grosvenor Road (caravan at rear)

2. Caravan and Ramp/Decking in rear curtilage

Page 69

Page 70

3. View of end of Caravan showing slabs with upvc surround in rear curtilage

4. Relationship to boundary fence (proposed to be raised) from within the site

Page 71

Page 72

5. View from side gate to show existing height of fence and side of caravan

6. View from within garden of no. 10 Norton Avenue of fence proposed to be raised and caravan

Page 73

Page 74

7. View from within garden of no. 10 Norton Avenue towards no. 12 Norton Avenue showing
fence proposed to be raised and caravan

8. View from within garden of no. 10 Norton Avenue on boundary showing level of
caravan/windows to gardens and caravan

Page 75

Page 76

9. View to no. 10 Norton Avenue from site boundary with no. 23 Grosvenor Road (also showing
rear of no. 12 Norton Avenue on RHS)

Google Maps Aerial view of site for reference only (caravan not sited within curtilage at this stage)

Page 77

Page 78

Photo locations from Google Map Aerial Photo (caravan not sited within curtilage at this stage)

Photo 9

Page 79

Page 80

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Prestatyn North

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Rachel Flynn
Cllr Tony Flynn
Cllr Paul Penlington (c)

APPLICATION NO:

43/2021/0063/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of a 3 metre high timber panel and post fence to screen
caravan and erection of decking and ramp to serve caravan

LOCATION:

23 Grosvenor Road Prestatyn LL19 7NW

APPLICANT:

MrsLisa Wilton

CONSTRAINTS:

C1 Flood Zone

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2




Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
Member request for referral to Committee

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
PRESTATYN TOWN COUNCIL
“Objection. Committee supports resident’s objection to installation of large static caravan and
high fencing. The development may set a precedence for others to follow. Development
overlooking and adverse visual impact on residential area.”

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Mr & Mrs Grant, Hen Dy, Trelogan
Jacqueline Mellor, 10, Norton Avenue, Prestatyn
Coral Lloyd-Jones, 8 Heol Aled, Abergele
Sam Clark, 125, Foryd Road, Kinmel Bay
Billy Mellor, 15 Bastion Gardens, Prestatyn
Miles Hayden, Bryn Conwy, Foel Road, Dyserth
Mr & Mrs Litherland, 16, Bastion Close, Prestatyn
Rebecca Mcellend, 23 Ffordd Pant Y Colwyn, Prestatyn
Mrs Jessica Suckley, 81 Meliden Road, Prestatyn
Alison Faulkner, 40 Mandrin Avenue, Rhyl
Laura Sutton, 9 Clos Dol-Y-Coed, Prestatyn
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Overbearing impact of fence
Loss of light as a result of fence
Residential amenity impacts of caravan, loss of privacy and overlooking
Noise and disturbance from caravan

Page 81

Fire hazard from siting caravan so close to boundary and use of gas bottles
Precedent of siting caravan in rear curtilage
Caravan should be located on a caravan site
In support
Representations received from:
L Olson, 14 Grasmere Close, Prestatyn
Scott Williams, Llys Y Coed, Ffordd Y Graig, Lixwm
Mark Weaver, 33 Bryn Court
Summary of planning based representations in support:
Amenity issues would be addressed by the proposed fence

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 21/03/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 16/06/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):


additional information required from applicant

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The application proposes the erection of a 3 metre high timber panel and post fence
and the erection of decking and ramp to serve a caravan at 23 Grosvenor Road in
Prestatyn. The application is partly retrospective as the ramp has been erected.
1.1.2

The timber panel fence would be sited along a section of the western boundary of the
site. It would extend from its existing height of 1.87 metres up to 3 metres in height
along 13 metres of the boundary. The purpose of the fence is to screen the rear of a
caravan within garden of no. 23 from the neighbouring properties to the west.

1.1.3

The ramp and decking has been erected along the eastern side of the caravan within
the rear curtilage. Measuring 10.9 metres in length by 2 metres in width at its widest
point, it facilitates ramped access from the garden level to the caravan. The overall
height of the decking is .85 metres above ground level. There is a railing above with a
total height measuring 1.9 metres. The railing is finished in brown upvc with a white
upvc fascia below.

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 As mentioned above the application is proposed to facilitate access to and screen a
static caravan that has been sited within the rear of no. 23 Grosvenor Road.
1.2.2

The use of the caravan has been explored prior to and during the planning application
process by Compliance and Planning Officers. Members will be aware that in most
cases the siting of the caravan does not constitute a building operation, and therefore
only needs planning permission if it triggers a change of use of land. In this instance
the use of this caravan has been explored thoroughly. Officers are content that the
caravan within the rear garden of 23 Grosvenor Road is being used for residential
purposes ancillary to the dwelling at the same address. Hence its siting has not
triggered a change of use requiring planning permission.

1.2.3

As the siting of the caravan does not require planning permission it falls outside of the
Local Planning Authority's control. Hence this application is for the development as
described in the planning application form only i.e. the erection of a fence and the

Page 82

retention of the decking area.
1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 No. 23 is a semi-detached bungalow located on the southern side of Grosvenor Road
in Prestatyn.
1.3.2

As mentioned above a static caravan has been sited within the rear curtilage of the
dwelling. The caravan is a standard size, measuring 11.35 metres x 3.6 metres.

1.3.3

It is understood that there was a single storey detached garage within the rear
curtilage prior to the installation of the static caravan on the site.

1.3.4

The rear curtilage of the dwelling is bounded by the rear of the properties fronting
Norton Avenue to the west, the rear garden of the attached house at no. 21
Grosvenor the east to the east and Trevor Road to the south.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Prestatyn.
1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 There is no planning history on the site.
1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 As mentioned above the use of the site and caravan has been explored since the
initial submission of the application, hence the delay to the determination period.
1.6.2

By way of background, Members are advised that the static caravan provides
ancillary accommodation to the dwelling at no. 23 Grosvenor Avenue. The caravan is
occupied by members of the Applicants family. The family members have disabilities,
which limit their mobility and ability to care for themselves. The caravan enables
accessible accommodation and provision of care for the family on site by the
Applicant. As stated above the siting of a caravan within the curtilage for this purpose
does not require planning permission.

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.6.3 None.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None.

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy RD3 – Extensions and alterations to existing dwellings
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

Page 83

3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Policy RD 3 relates specifically to the extension and alteration of existing dwellings,
and states that these will be supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria.
Policy RD1 supports development proposals within development boundaries
providing a range of impact tests are met.
The Residential Development SPG offers basic advice on the principles to be
adopted when designing domestic extensions and related developments.
The principle of appropriate alterations to existing dwellings is therefore acceptable. It
is considered that the principles applied to extensions/alterations to dwellings are
equally applicable to development within the curtilage of a dwelling. The assessment
of the specific impacts of the development proposed is set out in the following
sections.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Criteria ii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal is sympathetic in design, scale,
massing and materials to the character and appearance of the existing dwelling.
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (vi) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 as to what can be
considered a material consideration, and states that the effects of a development on

Page 84

the neighbourhood and environment can be a material consideration. It is therefore
considered that the impact of a proposal on the visual amenity of an area is a
standard material consideration.
Individual objections have been received to the application based on the visual
amenity impacts of the proposed fence, its appropriateness, precedent etc. Other
visual amenity considerations raised relate to the siting of the caravan which as stated
above is not the subject of this planning application.
The proposal involves two distinctive elements, the extension of the fence from its
existing height of 1.87 metres to 3 metres, and the retention of a decking area and
ramp to access the caravan.
The latter is relatively well contained within the garden and not particularly visually
obtrusive. The decking and ramp serves a purpose of allowing access to the caravan
rather than being used as an elevated seating area.
Whilst the fence is not visible from public views or vantage points, and this is not an
area designated for its high landscape value, Officers accept that the 3 metre fence is
not ideal form of development visually. The main visual impact would be within the
site and from the rear windows and gardens of the neighbouring dwellings on Norton
Avenue who face the site (no.’s 10 and 12). However the fence serves a purpose
which is explored further below (in the residential amenity section), and whilst it would
be higher than a standard boundary fence, it would not be dissimilar in height to a
garage or outbuilding with solid sides that might be be sited within the rear curtilage.
Indeed it is understood that there was a single storey garage on the side of the site
which has been removed to accommodate the caravan.
Officers consider that quantifying the harm associated with the visual impact of the
fence to refuse the application would be difficult. Having regard to the design, siting,
scale, massing and materials of the proposed development, in relation to the
character and appearance of the dwelling itself, its impact on the locality and wider
landscape, it is considered the proposals would not have a significantly unacceptable
impact on visual amenity and would therefore be in general compliance with the
relevant polices referred to above.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc.
Planning Policy Wales 3.1.4 confirms that factors to be taken into account in making
planning decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they
must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public
interest, towards the goal of sustainability. The residential amenity impacts of a
development proposal are a material consideration.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 as to what can be
considered a material consideration, and states that the effects of a development on
the neighbourhood and environment can be a material consideration. It is therefore
considered that the impact of a proposal on the visual amenity of an area is a
standard material consideration.
Individual objections have been received to the application based on the residential
amenity impacts of the proposed development, by virtue of a loss of privacy,

Page 85

overbearing impact and a loss of light. Other amenity considerations raised by the
Town Council and third parties relate to the siting of the caravan which, as stated
above, is not the subject of this planning application.
The application proposes the erection of a 3 metre fence along the western side of
the site and the installation of a ramp and decking area.
The decking and ramp serves a purpose of allowing access to the caravan rather than
being used as an elevated seating area. This development is contained within the
rear curtilage of the dwelling. There is unlikely to be significant residential amenity
impacts from this part of the proposal.
The 3 metre fence along the western boundary of the site is proposed to screen the
static caravan from the rear windows and gardens of the neighbouring dwellings on
Norton Avenue who face the site (no.’s 10 and 12). The top of the fence would be in
line with the eave level of the caravan. There are windows on the rear of the caravan
which owing to the site levels result in overlooking to and from the site. Although
these windows have been temporarily obscured they are operable windows (i.e. can
be opened as opposed to fixed).
As discussed above the use or siting of the caravan is not for consideration at this
stage. However, the 3 metre fence is proposed directly as a result of its siting.
Officers have considered the concerns raised by neighbours; in terms of loss of light
and overbearing impacts the fence would be 1 metre higher than the permitted
development allowance of 2 metres. It would run along the western boundary of the
site parallel to the caravan, thus primarily affecting no. 10 and 12 Norton Avenue. No.
10 Norton Avenue has a rear garden depth of 6 metres and no. 12 has a rear garden
depth of 10 metres. Both properties enjoy early morning sun from the east, therefore
the proposal would have some impact on their sunlight. However given the distance
to the rear windows of these dwelling this impact would be more likely in the garden
areas than within the actual dwellings. Turning to the overbearing impact Officers
acknowledge that the proposal may appear overbearing, particularly when viewed
within the gardens of the neighbouring properties. However the advantage in relation
to privacy is considered to outweigh the potential for overbearing impact from the
gardens. In terms of loss of privacy the fence would address this issue. It would
obscure the windows on the rear of the caravan and provide privacy to those staying
in the caravan and the neighbours to the rear.
Based on the separation distances involved from the rear windows of the
neighbouring dwellings to the fence and the nature of the ramp and decking, it is the
opinion of Officers that the proposal would not impact so significantly on the amenity
of the adjacent occupiers to warrant refusal. Given that the fence is specifically
required to protect amenity owing to the siting of the caravan Officers consider it
would be reasonable to attach a condition to require the fence be lowered should the
caravan be moved.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of

Page 86

supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Whilst respecting the opinions of the Town Council and third parties, Officers have tried to set
out the main planning considerations in relation to the actual development subject to this
planning application above.
5.2 Officers accept that the erection of a 3 metre boundary fence is not ideal and would not
normally be encouraged, however the fence serves a purpose in protecting the amenity of the
occupiers of the adjacent properties and those staying in the caravan. On balance, the benefit
in terms of privacy outweighs the potential overbearing impact and therefore the
recommendation is to approve the proposal.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 16th June
2026.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Existing and proposed elevations, site and location plan (Drawing No. 3243/1/JAN/2021)
received 25 January 2021

3.

Should the static caravan be removed from the site the fence hereby approved shall be
lowered or restored to its former height of 1.87 metres along the western boundary of the site.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
In the interests of residential amenity.

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2020/0844/PF

PROPOSAL:

Alteration and adaptation of existing nursing home to include
extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy

LOCATION:

Sandy Lodge 83 Dyserth Road Rhyl LL18 4DT

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

45/2020/0844
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 302787, 381157
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 14:57:05
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 91

Page 92

Page 93

Page 94

Sandy Lodge, Rhyl
Photos taken by Case Officer 27/05/2021 in sequence walking around the site
(Left Hand Side LHS/Right Hand Side RHS used for ease of reference)
1. Front elevation; stair enclosure proposed on front of two storey section on RHS

2. Front entrance area/ ramp; proposed to be remodelled

Page 95

Page 96

3. View to Rear/Side looking to boundary towards Canterbury House

4. Part Rear elevation; infill extension proposed ‘behind’ the conservatory

Page 97

Page 98

5. Full Rear elevation; infill extension proposed ‘behind’ the conservatory

6. Looking from site to Rear – Dwellings off Cae Gruffydd RHS back

Page 99

Page 100

7. Looking from site to Rear – Dwelling off Cae Gruffydd LHS back

8. Side elevation; stairwell proposed to be enclosed

Page 101

Page 102

9. Looking to side boundary with Footpath and Nursery beyond; annex building at the front of site
(detached white building at the far end of photo)

10. View from within site looking out to road; gate and temporary hoardings

Page 103

Page 104

Photo locations from Google Map Aerial Photo and original site frontage from street view for
reference only –
Dyserth Road to the north of the site at top of Aerial View, Canterbury House to west (LHS) of
Sandy Lodge, Summerhouse Out of School Club/Nursery to the east (RHS), Dwellings off Cae
Gruffydd to the south (bottom of photo)

Page 105

Page 106

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2020/0844/PF

PROPOSAL:

Alteration and adaptation of existing nursing home to include
extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy

LOCATION:

Sandy Lodge 83 Dyserth Road Rhyl LL18 4DT

APPLICANT:

Mr Sohail Qureshi Kuklous

CONSTRAINTS:

PROWArticle 4 Direction

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Member request for referral to Committee
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL
No objection.
RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT): N/A
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Richard Summers, 11 Lon Ystrad, Rhyl
Sophie Anderton, 2 Trellewelyn Close, Rhyl

Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Objection to use of the site to provide accommodation to secure patients.
Works commenced on site without planning permission.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 24/12/2020
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 14/04/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):




additional information required from applicant
awaiting consideration by Committee
Deferral from previous Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals

Page 107

1.1.1

Members will note this item was deferred from the previous Committee (May) for a
Site Panel to take place. As Members are aware Site Panels have not been
undertaken since the Covid 19 Pandemic forced a change in working practices. As
such Officers reviewed the relevant Coronavirus Regulations and consulted the Legal
Section on the matter. It appears that if a site panel meeting requires Officers and
Members to enter private property then the advice is that we cannot arrange such a
“gathering” and carry out a site panel visit at this time. As we have an obligation to
Applicants to progress planning applications we have looked for an alternative to the
site visit request and have provided Members of the Committee with a thorough set of
photographs from around the site under separate cover. Members will hopefully find
this beneficial and enable them to consider the application now.

1.1.2

Prior to this Members will recall this item was deferred from the April Committee to
enable consideration of this scheme alongside another application that was under
consideration at the site, reference 45/2020/0904. That application related to
alterations to the annex/office building at the front eastern corner of the site however
was on hold pending resolution of design and protected species issues. The
application has now been withdrawn by the Agent, therefore Officers consider there
are no grounds to hold this application up any further.

1.1.3

The application proposes alterations and adaptation of Sandy Lodge (an existing
nursing home), to include an extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor,
two fire escape stair enclosures and an entrance canopy.

1.1.4

The first floor bedroom extension would be over an existing flat roofed link between
the original building and a recent extension. It would add an additional storey with
pitched roof. Windows are proposed on the front and rear of the extension to serve
the two additional bedrooms.

1.1.5

The stair enclosures would be sited either side of the building. The enclosure on the
eastern side would be three storey and the enclosure on the west would be two
storey. The enclosures reflect the side of the building they are attached to with the
eastern side reflecting the Victorian design and materials, with high pitched roofline,
window and materials to match the main building. The western enclosure would
reflect the more modern extension is attached to. Windows are proposed on the front
of both stair enclosures to match the windows on their respective elevations.

1.1.6

At the entrance it is proposed to introduce a timber framed canopy structure and remodel the entrance ramp.
Existing south elevation:

Proposed south elevation (showing proposed first floor extension):

Page 108

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement. The DAS explains
the works in more detail;
“The proposal is to create 2 additional bedrooms as an infill on the first floor between
the original building and a more recent extension. The current building has 22
bedrooms, some of which are substandard and do not comply with HIW minimum
care standards. Internally the proposal is to create 19 bedrooms with en suite facilities
which will be fully compliant with the standards and good practice.
In addition the two existing external fire escape stairs are to be removed and replaced
with two fully enclosed stairs which in the event of a fire evacuation will allow
residents to be helped to safety without having to under-take a vertical escape on an
exposed steel escape staircase.
To assist the access and approach to the main entrance, it is proposed to create a
covered approach and ambulant stepped approach to the main entrance, whilst
adapting and maintaining the existing ramp.”
1.2.2

In relation to the use of the site the Agent is aware of concerns locally, including those
raised by local County Councillors, whom they have engaged with.
In relation to the use, the Agent has advised:
“The application does not include change of use as the site is permitted to be used as
a C2 Residential Institution. The C2 Residential Institution planning use class covers
Care Homes, Hospitals and Convalescent Homes.
The Applicants care model still falls within the C2 use class. The site will be used in a
similar way to a Rehab Hospital, Independent Hospital, or Rehab Facility. Some
patients can be admitted under the mental health act for a brief period, just like certain
patients in nursing or care homes are detained or restricted under the Mental
Capacity Act 2005, for a period. Details about the site operators can be seen at
https://medirose.com/about-us/#our-philosophy.
In relation to the unsightly security fencing, these temporary hoardings were erected
as an attempt to prevent trespass as the site, as whilst it has been vacant it has
suffered several acts of vandalism (with the site and buildings being broken into for
acts of vandalism and theft by the removal of copper and cabling). The temporary
hoarding will be removed when the development is completed.”

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is located off Dyserth Road on the approach to Rhyl. This is a primarily
residential area with a limited amount of other uses such as the care home on this site
and the adjacent site to the west, and a Children’s nursery on the site to the east.
1.3.2

Sandy Lodge is set back from the road, with a small subsidiary office building to the
front on the eastern side. The site is relatively flat with well-established landscaping

Page 109

which would not be altered by this application. The vehicular access point exists off
Dyserth Road with parking areas to the east and south of the site.
1.3.3

Sandy Lodge comprises an original three storey Victorian nursing home with more
contemporary Georgian/Edwardian style extension. The building is mainly finished in
brick and some stone detailing with plain concrete roof tiles. Windows are a mix of
timber and UPVC.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl. There are no other
designations on the site.
1.4.2

There is a footpath abutting the eastern boundary of the site.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 It is understood that Sandy Lodge was extended following the grant of planning
permission in 2004.
1.5.2

The site is a long established care home, which has the benefit of a Certificate of
Lawfulness in the 1990’s for “use as a residential and nursing home” which in
planning terms is a Class C2 Use.

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Since its submission there has ongoing discussions with the Agents over the use of
the site, this is mentioned above at paragraphs 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 Whilst appreciating local concerns Officers do not dispute the use of the site. Sandy
Lodge is a well-established care home. To use it as a mental hospital would not
require planning permission as hospitals clearly fall within Use Class C2. C2 uses
include residential institutions such as hospitals and convalescent/nursing homes,
and residential schools, colleges and training centres. Indeed Members will remember
that Planning Committee permitted the use of 64 Brighton Road as a similar facility
earlier this year and the use was not disputed in that case.
1.7.3

The Use Classes Order 1987 defines "care" as personal care for people in need of
such care by reason of old age, disablement, past or present dependence on alcohol
or drugs or past or present mental disorder.

1.7.4

It has been suggested that a more appropriate use of the site would be Use Class
C2A Secure Residential Institutions. By way of background this use class was
introduced in 2006 and includes secure hospitals alongside prisons, young offenders’
institutions and detention centres. Officer’s opinion which is informed by a review of
similar cases, is that these uses are concerned with detaining people as they pose a
risk to the wider community, whereas the residents of Sandy Lodge would be
detained for their own personal safety. This is a key determining factor in considering
the necessity for a change us use in this case.

1.7.5

There is another application currently under consideration at the site, reference
45/2020/0904. This application relates to alterations to the annex/office building at the
front eastern corner of the site. However it is currently ‘on hold’ pending receipt of
additional information from the Agent.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1
45/2004/1428 Alterations and extension of the existing nursing home. Granted
6/12/2004 ref
2.2

45/2005/0174 Alterations and extension of the existing nursing home amendment to
1428. Granted 17/2/2005

Page 110

2.3

2/RHY/005/94/E Certificate of Lawfulness for use of premises as a residential and
nursing home. Certified 14/11/199

2.4

45/2020/0904 Erection of two storey extension to rear and single storey sun lounge
extension to existing annex to provide additional living accommodation and office
space to be used in conjunction with nursing home including formation of additional
window/door openings, installation of solar panels and associated works. Withdrawn
23/04/2021

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Highways (including access and parking)
Fear of crime

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:

Page 111

4.2.1

Principle
Sandy Lodge is located within the development boundary of Rhyl. The Strategic
policies of the development plan seek to concentrate new development in existing
settlements, subject to the consideration of environmental impacts.
The site is an existing care facility. Health care is highlighted as a key facility for
communities in the policy justification of BSC 12, the policy that supports community
facilities.
It is the opinion of Officers that the proposal for minor extensions to this existing care
home are acceptable in principle. The detailed impacts are reviewed in the following
sections of the report.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (vi) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
The application is minor alterations at the sides and rear of the existing care home.
The extensions would be broadly subordinate to the original building. They have been
designed sympathetically to reflect the character and appearance of the sections the
existing building on where they are located.
Therefore it is considered that there are no grounds to resist the development on
visual amenity grounds at this stage. It is not considered that the application conflicts
with the visual impact policies of RD1.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc
The application proposes two stairwell enclosures, with windows to the front. A first
floor infill extension within the existing footprint of the building and alterations to the
frontage. This is an existing care home and the Agent state that the internal rearranging to provide en-suite rooms will result in less bedrooms than existing with
accommodation, with bed spaces for 19 patients proposed.
Given the location of the development on the side, and rear of the site and the
physical relationship with adjacent non-residential uses and nearby dwellings, at the
distances and scale involved it is not considered there would be significant adverse
impacts from overlooking or overshadowing. There is sufficient space around the site
for amenity of the proposed occupiers. It is not considered that the proposal raised
policy conflicts in relation to amenity.

4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)

Page 112

Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
The proposals would not alter the existing access arrangements to or from the site
from Dyserth Road or the parking arrangements. A less intensive use is proposed
overall owing to a reduction in bed spaces.
In Officers’ opinion there would be no highways impacts as a result of the proposal.
Therefore is no conflict with the highways considerations of Policy RD1.

4.2.5

Fear of crime
Policy RD 1 - Sustainable development and good standard design test xii) states that
development should take account of personal and community safety and security in
the design and layout of development and public/private spaces and have regard to
implications for crime and disorder.
It is established that fear of crime can be a material consideration and test xii) of RD1
adds a policy hook for such a consideration, however like all potential impacts
evidence is required to substantiate this as a ground for refusal of permission.
The use of the site is discussed above. The Agents have advised that the hospital
would be secure and would be regulated by the Care Standard Inspectorate for
Wales.
Whilst the security concerns are a consideration, Officers do not feel the proposal
which involves two stairwells and an infill extension would in itself directly impact on
crime and security in the area.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The report sets out what Officers believe to be the main issues of relevance to the
consideration of the application. Officer must stress to Members whilst we recognise there are
local concerns regarding the use of the site, those issues are not a material consideration on
this application. This application is for building alterations to an existing building, with an
existing lawful use.
Having regard to the scale of the development, the relevant planning policies and material
considerations, Officers do not consider that there is any clear evidence of material harm

Page 113

likely to arise as a result of the development.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 14th April 2026

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Existing elevations (Drawing No. EX04) received 30 October 2020
(ii) Existing ground floor plan (Drawing No. EX01) received 30 October 2020
(iii) Existing basement floor plan (Drawing No. EX05) received 30 October 2020
(iv) Existing first floor plan (Drawing No. EX02) received 30 October 2020
(v) Existing second floor plan (Drawing No. EX03) received 30 October 2020
(vi) Proposed elevations (Drawing No. P04) received 30 October 2020
(vii) Proposed ground floor plan (Drawing No. P01) received 30 October 2020
(viii) Proposed first floor plan (Drawing No. P02) received 30 October 2020
(ix) Proposed second floor plan (Drawing No. P03) received 30 October 2020
(x) existing site and location plan (Drawing No. EX00) received 30 October 2020
(xi) Proposed site and location plan (Drawing No. P00 Rev. A) received 5 November 2020

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 114

Agenda Item 10
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0257/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of rear two storey extension with adjoining single storey
extension

LOCATION:

2 Bryn Ibod Waen St Asaph LL17 0DY

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

47/2021/0257
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 306145, 372505
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 15:00:50
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 117

Page 118

Page 119

Page 120

Existing Elevations

Page 121

Page 122

Proposed Elevations

Page 123

Page 124

Page 125

Front of property

Page 126

Page 127

Rear of property and adjoining property

Page 128

Page 129

Rear of property and adjoining property

Page 130

Page 131

Rear of property and other neighbouring property

Page 132

Denise Shaw
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0257/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of rear two storey extension with adjoining single storey
extension

LOCATION:

2 Bryn Ibod Waen St Asaph LL17 0DY

APPLICANT:

Pattison

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
TREMEIRCHION, CWM & WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL
Our Council has considered this application.
It wishes to object to the proposal on the grounds:
i) That what is proposed is so large that it will significantly block natural light falling on the
neighbouring property.
ii) One large patio style window in the application will overlook the neighbours' property
significantly compromising their privacy.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
John Piper, 1 Bryn Ibod, Waen
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
- Adverse impact on amenity of neighbouring property due to overshadowing and overbearing
impact.
- Extension would be built over the existing main sewer.
- Overdevelopment as it is far bigger than the current existing property.
- Would affect party wall with neighbouring property.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 17/05/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):

awaiting consideration by Committee
PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The proposal is for the erection of a two storey extension to the rear of the property,
with single storey lean-to extension either side, as shown on the proposed plans.

Page 133

1.1.2

The extension would project 4 metres from the rear elevation, and would
accommodate a kitchen / diner and utility room at ground floor level and a bedroom
above.
Proposed rear elevation:

Proposed ground floor plan:

Proposed first floor plan:

Proposed site plan:

Page 134

1.2 Description of site and surroundings
1.2.1 The site is a semi-detached property which forms part of a small row of properties
facing the public highway, which is located in an open countryside location.
1.2.2

There are neighbouring properties to either side, and the adjoining property has a
single storey extension to the rear.

1.2.3

The boundary with the adjoining neighbour is marked with a brick wall and timber
fence, and there is an outhouse in the rear garden which is attached to similar
outhouse in the neighbour’s garden.

1.3 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.3.1 The site lies in an open countryside location.
1.4 Relevant planning history
1.4.1 None of relevance.
1.5 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.5.1 None.
1.6 Other relevant background information
1.6.1 None.
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of relevance.
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD3 – Extensions and alterations to existing dwellings
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 February 2021
Development Control Manual (2016)
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

Page 135

3.3 Other material considerations

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Other matters

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Policy RD 3 relates specifically to the extension and alteration of existing dwellings,
and states that these will be supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria.
The Residential Development SPG offers basic advice on the principles to be
adopted when designing domestic extensions and related developments.
The principle of appropriate extensions and alterations to existing dwellings is
therefore acceptable. The assessment of the specific impacts of the development
proposed is set out in the following sections.
4.2.2

Visual Amenity
Criteria i) of Policy RD 3 requires the scale and form of the proposed extension or
alteration to be subordinate to the original dwelling, or the dwelling as it was 20 years
before the planning application is made.
Criteria ii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal is sympathetic in design, scale,
massing and materials to the character and appearance of the existing building.
Criteria iii) of Policy RD3 requires that a proposal does not represent an
overdevelopment of the site.
The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should be regarded as a
potential material consideration.
A public representation has raised concerns that the proposal would represent
overdevelopment of the site.
Whilst respecting the concerns raised, Officers consider the proposed extension
would be subordinate in scale to the original dwelling, and would also be sympathetic
in design, scale, massing and materials. The property has a large rear garden, and
having regard to the scale and footprint, it is not considered to represent

Page 136

overdevelopment of the plot.
Having regard to the design, siting, scale, massing and materials of the proposed
extension, in relation to the character and appearance of the dwelling itself, the
locality and landscape, it is considered the proposals would not have an unacceptable
impact on visual amenity and would therefore be in general compliance with the tests
in the policies referred to.

4.2.3

Residential Amenity
Criteria iii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal does not represent an
overdevelopment of the site.
The residential amenity impacts of development should therefore be regarded as a
potential material consideration.
The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75% of a residential
property should be covered by buildings.
The Residential Space Standards SPG specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity
space should be provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings.
Representations on the residential amenity impacts have been made by the
Community Council residential neighbour on grounds of overbearing impacts and
overshadowing on neighbouring property.
The proposal is for a two storey extension with single storey lean two extensions
either side. The two storey element is stepped in from the boundary with the
neighbouring property by approximately 1.9 metres.
The Residential development SPG offers useful guidance for the consideration of
impacts of extensions on adjoining properties and the 45° guide is a useful tool for
assessing potential for overshadowing to occur.
45° guide: An imaginary line is horizontally drawn at 45° from the centre of the
nearest ground floor window of any habitable room in an adjoining property. No part
of the proposed development should cross this line. This rule contains an element of
flexibility; considering the direction of sunlight and shadow fall predicted from the new
development.

Page 137

Both neighbouring properties (1 and 3 Bod Ibod) have ground and first floor windows
in the rear elevations, however it should be noted that the adjoining property, No 1
has a lean to extension to the rear.
In applying the 45 degree guide referred to in the Residential Development SPG,
Officers conclude that the sight lines from ground floor windows in the rear elevation
of neighbouring properties would not breach the 45 degree line, and accordingly the
extension would not unduly overshadow windows.
It is also of note that all properties have long, deep rear gardens and therefore the
extension would not unacceptably overshadow neighbouring properties.
Whilst large windows are proposed in the rear elevation, Officers would note that
there is already a line of sight from existing first floor windows towards neighbouring
gardens, and the level of additional overlooking which may arise would not warrant a
refusal of planning permission.
Having regard to the scale, form and design, Officers do not consider the proposal
would give rise to unacceptable overbearing impact on either neighbour.
Therefore, having regard to the scale, location and design of the proposed
development, it is considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable
impact on residential amenity, and would therefore be in general compliance with the
tests of the policies referred to.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the Council not
only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable steps in exercising its
functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) objectives. The Act sets a
requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application determined, how the development
complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 ‘Wellbeing duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development Principles’ of the
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The recommendation is made in
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution towards
Welsh Governments well-being objective of supporting safe, cohesive and resilient
communities. It is therefore considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable
impact upon the achievement of well-being objectives as a result of the proposed
recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the
particular tests of the relevant policies, the application is considered to be acceptable and is
recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 16th June
2026.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Existing floor plan (drawing number P101) received 18 March 2021

Page 138

(ii) Existing elervations plan (drawing number P102) received 18 March 2021
(iii) Proposed floor plan (drawing number P201) received 18 March 2021
(iv) Proposed elevations plan (drawing number P202) received 18 March 2021
(v) Location plan (drawing number P203) received 18 March 2021
(vi) Existing and Proposed site plan (drawing number P204) received 18 March 2021
The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

